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Mr. Kumar Mangalam Birla
Chairman of the Board

Vision
To be the global leader in man-made cellulosic fibre

industry

Mission

We aim to create superior and sustainable value for
all our stakeholders maintaining the largest market

share in man-made cellulosic fibre industry globally

through
¢ Innovation in products and processes,
o Excellencein quality, service, people development, and

 Focus on environment friendliness in all our activities
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COMPANY PROFILE

Thai Rayon Public Company Limited (TR) was incorporated on 13 February 1974 to produce Viscose Staple Fibre
(VSF). The commercial operation began on 14 September 1976 with an annual capacity of 9,000 TPA of VSF. With
regular expansions, TR’s present capacity stands at 151,000 TPA which is 17 times its original capacity. TR also
has capacity to produce 126,000 TPA of Anhydrous Sodium Sulphate, a by-product. TR is listed on the Stock
Exchange of Thailand since 1984 with market capitalization of Baht 10,685 Million (approx. USD 340 Million) as
of 31 March 2018.

TR’s VSF factory is located on the banks of Chao Praya River in Angthong province and its gas based CS2 Plant is
located at SIL Industrial Estate in Saraburi province. The Company is accredited with 1ISO 9002 and I1SO 14001.
TR has also been awarded the prestigious TPM Excellence Award by JIPM, Japan.

Our products under umbrella brand of ‘Birla Cellulose’ offer a wide range of viscose staple fibres having multiple
functional benefits such as soft feel, high moisture absorbency, bio degradability, comfort and fashion. These
fibers have various applications in apparel, home textiles, dress material, knitwear, wipes, personal hygiene and

medical usages.

TR has already successfully diversified into new generation fibre “Birla Modal” which is well accepted for high

end textile fashion products in more than a dozen countries.

TR also produces Anhydrous Sodium Sulphate, a by-product, which is widely used by detergent, pulp, glass,

leather and textile industries.

More than 85% of Thai Rayon’s VSF throughput is directly exported to more than 38 countries worldwide. VSF
from Thai Rayon is marketed under the Birla Cellulose brand, and meets the stringent quality expectations of
customers in the USA, China, Europe, Turkey, Canada, South Korea, Indonesia, Japan, Vietnam, Taiwan, India,
Pakistan, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka and the Middle East.

TR caters to the demands of both Textile and Non-Woven applications, producing VSF varieties in the range of
0.8 to 5.5 Denier, Staple Length in the range of 32 mm to 120 mm, Luster in Bright Bleach and Semi Dull. Our
fibers are certified by Oeko-Tex Standard 100. In recent times, TR has increased its market share in specialty

products like non-woven, micro denier and coarser deniers.

Over the years, TR has expanded business both within and beyond Thailand by way of backward and forward
integration. The Company has been making continuous efforts to improve productivity and quality of its products
to cater to high end markets. Being a prominent exporter, a contributor to exchequer and a major employer in

Angthong province, the Company contributes significantly to the economy of Thailand.
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(Unit : Million Baht / 1itiag : a74un)

For the year ended 31 March /
A usLllaugaiun 31 Juian

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

2561 2560 2559 2558 2557
Financial Status FIUENIMIR{UY
Total Current Assets Auninguy AU 6,064 5,426 3,952 4,053 5,962
Total Assets Auninesan 25,093 23,550 21,272 20,626 23,960
Total Current Liabilities wﬁﬁuuguﬁﬂmw 1,379 1,651 1,807 2,897 3,898
Total Liabilities ‘Mﬁaumu 1,903 2,171 2,218 3,285 4,721
Shareholders’ Equity dourasfiliau 23,190 21,379 19,055 17,341 19,239
Paid Up Capital nuﬁﬁiméﬁ 201.60 201.60 201.60 201.60 201.60
Operating Performance NAMIALHUIY
Export Sales selAannnisunedaaan 8,341 7,027 6,761 5,932 10,338
Total Sales alfannnisnasau 10,032 9,080 9,223 7,718 11,749
Total Revenues geldsu 10,271 9,228 9,292 7,866 11,861
Net Profit ﬁﬂ?’&;‘ﬂ% 2,128 2,325 1,386 (1,295) (967)
Per Share Data (Baht)  Wayasianu (Um)
Dividend Ruilung 1.15* 1.05 0.70 0.05 0.20
Earnings ﬁﬂﬁ?ﬁifaﬁ:u 10.55 11.53 6.87 (6.42) (4.80)
Book Value YAAIRN Vaﬁ 115.03 106.05 94.52 86.02 95.43
Note: *  The Board of Directors’ Meeting held on 24 May 2018 recommended to pay dividend of Baht 1.15 per share and

the same will be paid on 7 August 2018 subject to approval by shareholders’ meeting to be held on 18 July 2018.

- The financial highlights for the year ended 31 March 2014 is presented under consolidated financial statements.

waneme: ¢ idssguanznasinsTEniedun 24 wounnan 2561 Thane iinsanatuiluna ludnauas 1.15 v Sivuaans
Tudui 7 Zewnan 2561 TnaazaseyiFsenilssguandydheruluiui 18 nangiau 2561

- UNIRuAMFLTAUgATUN 31 HWIAN 2557 N1AINIUNITRUIIN
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(1udqgl : §1%11m / Unit : Million Baht)
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MAJOR CHANGES AND OTHER EVENTS

24 May 2018 : The Board of Directors’ Meeting no.1/2018 has passed the resolutions as follows.

To propose in the annual general meeting of
shareholders to consider and approve the dividend
payment at the rate of Baht 1.15 per share for the
year ended 31 March 2018 from the profit for the
period from 1 April 2017 - 31 March 2018, amounting
to Baht 231.84 Million. Out of the total dividend of
Baht 1.15 per share, Baht 0.74 shall be paid from
tax-exempt net profit under BOIl’s promotion
certificate no.59-0424-0-04-1-0 and balance of Baht
0.41 shall be paid from non-BOI business. The

dividend payment will be made on 7 August 2018.

To approve the disposal of investment in Birla Lao
Pulp & Plantations Co.,Ltd. (BLPP), an associated
companyinLao PDR., representing 30% shareholding
by Thai Rayon Public Co.,Ltd. at USD 4.068 Million
as per the terms of share purchase agreement (SPA).
The Company along with other shareholders i.e.
iy Grasim Industries Limited (40%) and PT Indo Bharat
‘ Rayon (30%) have entered into the Share Purchase

: o ' # - Agreement (SPA) with Sunpaper Holding Lao Co.,Ltd.
a0 Eimi ‘&‘,‘ﬂ%‘ to divest 100% shareholding in BLPP at USD
AT TR 15,200,000.- (US Dollars: Fifteen Million Two

PN TR VTR ™
Hundred Thousand only) after repayment of existing

loan and share application money.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

Your Directors present the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018.
Global Economy

The global economy strengthened in 2017 to 3.8% driven by recovery in advanced economies, continued strong
growth in emerging Asia, and signs of recovery in several commodity exporting countries. Global growth is
expected to tick up to 3.9% in 2018 supported by strong momentum, favorable market sentiment and continued

recovery in most of the advanced countries.

Thai Economy

The Thai economy grew by 3.9% in 2017, higher than the growth rate of 3.3% in 2016 buoyed by exports growth,
pick-up in consumer spending, rising tourist inflows and low inflation. Going forward the projected rate is in
similar range in 2018. High household debt, weak investment growth and stronger Baht are likely to remain a

drag on the economy.

VSF Industry

Globally VSF demand growth has started to slow down over the last two years after years of high growth led by
China. VSF demand growth in China since year 2011 was influenced by its cotton policy. In last couple of years,
VSF demand situation is changing with increase in availability of cotton. After recording overall growth of nearly
8% during calendar years 2013-2015, growth in 2016-17 has declined to around 2-2.5%. However, international
VSF prices during 2017 increased by 6% over the previous year. Higher prices have been influenced by overall

higher oil and commaodity prices and cost push.

VSF production capacity at the end of calendar year 2017 stands at around 6.3 Million Tons with surplus of nearly
one Million Tons representing 16% of capacity. VSF Capacity is expected to increase by 19% in year 2018 taking
the surplus to 27%. Against this backdrop, VSF demand growth is expected at about 4% in next few years .This
situation is expected to bring pressure on VSF prices and margins in short term over next couple of years. However,
growth in demand of non-woven and modal fibre is expected to be higher, mitigating your Company’s business

situation. Your Company will continue to pursue cost reductions through innovation and technology enablers.
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Operational Performance and Profitability

Your Company’s operating performance and profitability for the year ended 31 March 2018 vis-a-vis the year
31 March 2017 is tabulated below:

For the year ended 31Mar

Particulars % change
2018 2017

Total VSF production (Metric Tons) 138,800 124,225 12%
Total VSF sales volume (Metric Tons) 140,000 125,466 12%
Total sales revenues (Baht Million) 10,032 9,080 10%
Average selling price (Baht/Kg) 68.47 69.20 (1%)
Cost of goods sold (Baht Million) 8,807 7,588 16%
Cost of goods sold (Baht/Kg) 62.91 60.48 4%
Share of Income from associates and joint venture 1,383 1,435 (4%)
(Baht Million)
Net profit (separate financial statements) (Baht Million) 825 1,034 (20%)
Net profit (equity method) (Baht Million) 2,128 2,325 (9%)

Though VSF prices increased in US Dollar terms by 5%, appreciation of Thai Baht in FY 17-18 over FY 16-17 by
6%, led to lower realizations in Thai Baht by 1%. The Company continued to improve the overall operational
performance with the help of lower consumption of key inputs and energy per ton of final product in order to
remain competitive. However due to significant increase in chemical prices, the Company’s input costs increased,
resulting in overall cost of goods sold increase by 4% as compared to last year. This has resulted into lower profit
as per separate financials by 20% to Baht 825 Million as compared to Baht 1,034 Million in previous year.
Challenging market situations resulted into lower performance of some of the associated companies as compared
to previous year and hence the net profit under the equity method decreased by 9% over the previous year.
Your Company has managed to develop diversified markets for non-woven fibre resulting in growth of sales
revenues on non-woven fibres by 191% over the previous year. The Company also continues to maintain its niche

position in modal fibre market.

Your Company has continued to strengthen sustainability of its operations on environmental front. The Company
commissioned second phase of CS, recovery unit in April 2017 and increased its average daily CS, recovery by
159%. The Company continues to work closely with the community and regulators in its journey of environmental
improvements. These improvements have been well received and appreciated by the community. As a responsible
corporate citizen, your Company cares for community around and will undertake new investments that are

technically feasible.

Your Company is actively engaged in regular CSR activity to live in harmony with community and make a difference

to their lives.
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Performance of Joint Venture

Your Company’s joint venture, AV Terrace Bay Inc., Canada (AVTB) has continued to show improved operational
performance in terms of higher revenues and overall profitability. AVTB recorded first ever net profit of Baht 70
Million as compared to previous year’s loss of Baht 143 Million. AVTB was acquired for conversion to a dissolving

grade pulp mill. This is presently on hold considering the current market conditions.

Performance of Associate Companies

The share of equity income decreased marginally to Baht 1,383 Million by 4% as compared to the previous year
income of Baht 1,435 Million. Associates Aditya Birla Chemicals (Thailand) Co.,Ltd., Thai Carbon Black Plc., Thai
Polyphosphate & Chemicals Co.,Ltd. and Aditya Group AB recorded higher earnings as compared to previous
year. Your Company has recorded share of loss of Baht 43 Million on account of impairment in Birla Lao Pulp &
plantations Co.,Ltd., consequent to decision to divest its entire investment as per the terms share purchase

agreement.

In view of the net profit for the year, the Board of Directors has recommended a dividend of Baht 1.15 per share
for the year ended 31 March 2018, entailing a payment of Baht 231.84 Million.

Your Directors express their gratitude to its customers, government authorities, neighboring community, vendors,
financial institutions and all other business partners and stakeholders for their continued support. Your Directors
deeply value the commitment and dedication of all employees in achieving sustained operational improvements

year after year.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

=

"

Shyam Sundar Mahansaria

Independent Director
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MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

As of 31 March 2018, the Company’s management structure consists of the Board of Directors, Audit Committee

and Management Team.

The Board of Directors consists of 3 independent directors, 3 non-executive directors and 1 executive director.
The Board set up sub-committees, namely Audit Committee and all directors in the Audit Committee are

independent directors.

1. Board of Directors

The Board of Directors comprises of the following persons:

1. Mr. Kumar Mangalam Birla Chairman of the Board
2. Mrs. Rajashree Birla Director

3. Mr. Shyam Sundar Mahansaria Independent Director

4.  Mr. Vinai Sachdev Independent Director

5.  Mr. Prabhu Narain Mathur Independent Director

6.  Mr. Dilip Singh Gaur* Director

7. Dr. Bir Kapoor* Director

Remark: - Information and profile are shown in the Board of Directors and Management.

* Appointed as director effective 21 July 2017.
Authorized Directors

Any two directors of the Company are authorized to jointly sign and affix the Company’s seal. However,

the Board of Directors may appoint the authorized directors of the Company with the Company’s seal.
Duties and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors

1. To perform duties in compliance with the laws, the Company’s objectives, the Articles of Association
and resolutions of shareholders’ meetings by upholding integrity and the best interests of the Company

and shareholders.

2. Toberesponsible for setting up the Company’s policies and direction as well as monitor and supervise

management for operating in efficient and effective implementation of the policies.
3. To be responsible for appointing the Audit Committee.

4. To convene meeting of the Board of Directors and shareholders at least once a quarter and once a

year respectively.
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In 2018, records of meeting attendance of individual directors are as follows:

Meeting Attendance
Name Position Tenure Board of Audit Shareholders Remark
Directors | Committee Meeting
1. Mr. Kumar Chairman of Jul 2016 - 0/4 - 0/1 Being foreign
Mangalam Birla the Board AGM 2019 director
2. Mrs. Rajashree Director Jul 2017 - 0/4 - 0/1 Being foreign
Birla AGM 2020 director
3. Mr. Shyam Sundar Independent Jul 2016 - 4/4 4/4 1/1
Mahansaria Director/ AGM 2018
Chairman of the
Audit Committee
4. Mr. Vinai Sachdev Independent Jul 2016 - 4/4 4/4 1/1
Director/ AGM 2018
Member of the
Audit Committee
5. Mr. Prabhu Narain Independent Jul 2015 - 3/4 3/4 1/1
Mathur Director/ AGM 2018
Member of the
Audit Committee
6. Mr. Dilip Singh Director Jul 2017 - 2/3 - 1/1 Being foreign
1/ H
Gaur AGM 2020 director
7. Dr. Bir Kapoor ¥ Director Jul 2017 - 3/3 - 1/1
AGM 2020
8. M. Krishna Kishore Director Jul 2015 - 0/1 - 0/1 Being foreign
Maheshwari % 30 May director
AGM 2017
9. Mr. Hari Krishna  Director Jul 2014 - 1/1 - 1/1
Agarwal ¥ 30 May
AGM 2017

Remark: ¥ Mr. Dilip Singh Gaur and Dr. Bir Kapoor appointed as director effective 21 July 2017.

2/ Mr. Krishna Kishore Maheshwari and Mr. Hari Krishna Agarwal resigned from directorship effective 30 May 2017.
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2. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of independent directors with qualifications in accordance with the announcements

of the Capital Market Supervisory Board and the regulations of the Office of the Securities and Exchange

Commission and the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The Committee must consist of at least 3 independent directors,

with at least one who is qualified in accounting or finance and has adequate experience to ascertain the integrity

of the financial statements of the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Directors as follows:

1.

2.

3.

Mr. Shyam Sundar Mahansaria Chairman of the Audit Committee
Mr. Vinai Sachdev Member of the Audit Committee
Mr. Prabhu Narain Mathur Member of the Audit Committee
Mrs. Suwanna Chalermwat Secretary of the Audit Committee

Duties and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee

(7)

To review the Company’s financial reporting process to ensure that it is accurate and adequate;

To review the Company’s internal control system and internal audit system to ensure that they are
suitable and efficient, to determine internal audit’s independence, as well as to approve the
appointment, transfer and dismissal of internal audit team;

To review the Company’s compliance with the law on securities and exchange, the Exchange’s
regulations, and the laws relating to the Company’s business;

To consider, select and nominate an independent person to be the Company’s auditor, and to propose
such person’s remuneration, as well as to attend a non-management meeting with the auditor at
least once a year;

To review the Connected Transactions, or the transactions that may lead to conflicts of interests, to
ensure that they are in compliance with the laws and the Exchange’s regulations and are reasonable
and for the highest benefit of the Company;

To prepare and to disclose in the Company’s annual report, an audit committee’s report which must
be signed by the audit committee’s chairman and consisting of the following information:

(a) an opinion on the accuracy, completeness and creditability of the Company’s financial report,
(b) an opinion on the adequacy of the Company’s internal control system,

(c) anopiniononthe compliance with the law on securities and exchange, the Exchange’s regulations,
or the laws relating to the Company’s business,

(d) an opinion on the suitability of an auditor,
(e) an opinion on the transactions that may lead to conflicts of interests,

(f) the number of the audit committee meetings and the attendance of such meetings by each
committee member,

(g) an opinion or overview comment received by the audit committee from its performance of
duties in accordance with the charter, and

(h) other transactions which, according to the audit committee’s opinion, should be known to the
shareholders and general investors, subject to the scope of duties and responsibilities assigned
by the Company’s board of directors; and

To perform any other act as assigned by the Company’s board of directors, with the approval of the
audit committee.
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Qualification of “Independent Director”

The Board of Directors has determined that the minimum qualifications of Independent Director should
be in compliance of the guidelines prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Stock
Exchange of Thailand. The Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board No. TorChor.4/2552 dated
20 February 2552 regarding the qualification of independent directors, namely “Independent Director”

means a director of the following features.

1. Holding shares not exceeding one percent of the total number of voting rights of the Company, its
parent company, subsidiary, affiliate or juristic person which may have conflicts of interest, including

the shares held by related persons of the independent directors;

2.  Neither being nor having been an executive director, employee, staff, or advisor who receives salary,
ora controlling person of the Company, its parent company, subsidiary, affiliate, same-level subsidiary
or juristic person who may have conflicts of interest unless the foregoing status has ended not less

than two years prior to the date of application filing with the Office;

3. Notbeingapersonrelated by blood or registration under laws, such as father, mother, spouse, sibling,
and child, including spouse of the children, executives, major shareholders, controlling persons, or

persons to be nominated as executives of controlling persons of the Company or its subsidiary;

4. Not having a business relationship with the Company, its parent company, subsidiary, affiliate, or
juristic person who may have conflicts of interest, in the manner which may interfere with his
independent judgement, and neither being nor having been a major shareholder, non-independent
director or executive of any person having business relationship with the Company, its parent company,
subsidiary, affiliate or juristic person who may have conflicts of interest unless the foregoing relationship

has ended not less than two years prior to the date of application filing with the Office;

5. Neither being nor having been an auditor of the Company, its parent company, subsidiary, affiliate,
or juristic person who may have conflicts of interest, and not being a major shareholder, non-
independent director, executive or partner of an audit firm which employs auditors of the Company,
its parent company, subsidiary, affiliate, or juristic person who may have conflicts of interest unless
the foregoing relationship has ended not less than two years from the date of application filing with
the Office;

6. Neither being nor having been any professional advisor including legal advisor or financial advisor
who receives an annual service fee exceeding Baht Two Million from the Company, its parent company,
subsidiary, affiliate, or juristic person who may have conflicts of interest, and neither being nor having
been a major shareholder, non-independent director, executive or partner of the professional advisor
unless the foregoing relationship has ended not less than two years from the date of application filing
with the Office;

7. Not being a director who has been appointed as a representative of the Company’s director, major

shareholder or shareholders who are related to the Company’s major shareholder;

8.  Not having any characteristics which make him incapable of expressing independent opinions with

regard to the Company’s business affairs.
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3. Management

As of 31 March 2018, the Company’s management team consists of the following persons.

1.

2.

Dr. Bir Kapoor Group Executive President

Mr. Prasan Kumar Sipani President

Mr. Suresh Sundaram Senior Vice President (Technical)

Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kaul* Vice President (Engineering)

Mr. Pramod Khandelwal Vice President (Finance & Commercial)

Remark: - Information and profile are shown in the Board of Directors and Management.

* Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kaul retired on 21 May 2017.
Duties and Responsibilities of the Group Executive President

The Group Executive President reports to the Board of Directors of the Company and has the authority and

responsibility as stated below.

1. Performthe dutiesin compliance with regulations of the Company and are in accordance with policies

laid down by the Board of Directors.

2. Administer the operations and approve various matters concerning the Company’s operation in its

normal course of business.
3.  Perform any other duties as assigned by the Board of Directors.
Company Secretary

The Board of Directors has appointed Mrs. Suwanna Chalermwat as the Company Secretary since 30 June
2010, whose duties and responsibilities are as per the terms of the Securities and Exchange Act. The
Company Secretary is responsible for organizing meetings for the Board of Directors and shareholders,
ensuring compliance with the meetings’ resolutions, and advising the Board on rules and regulations to
which it must comply. Additionally, the Company Secretary is responsible for preparing and keeping the
register of directors, invitation letters of the Board meeting, minutes of Board meeting, Annual Report,
invitation letters to attend the shareholders’ meeting and records of its minutes, the report on conflict of
interests of directors or executive officers and other duties as required by the Capital Market Supervisory
Board.

Remark: Information and profile shown in the Board of Directors and Management.
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Appointment of Directors

The Company has not appointed a Nomination Committee to select and propose nominees to be appointed
as directors. If there is a vacancy, the Board of Directors shall select and propose nominees to fill the vacant
position. In the selection of candidates, various criteria are considered such as knowledge and experience.
Furthermore, the directors and executives must have required qualifications and must not have characteristics
which are prohibited under the Public Limited Company Act and the Notification of the Securities and

Exchange Commission as follows:
1. Has been subject to the court’s receiving order or declared by any court as an insolvent person.
2. Was convicted by a local or international government organization for serious offence.

3. Has been denounced or has been tried in any criminal proceeding instituted by authorities in the

offences of unfair trading practices in securities or derivatives, or fraudulent or dishonest management.
4. Has or used to have any behavior that shows lack of fiduciary duties.

At each annual general meeting of shareholders, one-third of the directors shall vacate the office. If the

number is not multiple of three, then the number nearest to one-third must retire from the office.

The directors to retire during the first and second years following the registration of the Company shall be
drawn by lots. In every subsequent year, the directors who have been in office for the longest term shall
retire. In case, there are persons who become directors on the same day, those to retire shall be determined

by lot. A retiring director is eligible for re-election.

The appointment of director shall be made by a majority vote of the shareholders’ meeting in accordance

with the following conditions and procedures:
1. One shareholder shall have one vote for each share;

2.  Eachshareholder shall exercise all the votes he has under (1) above, to appoint the nominated persons
to be directors on a person-by-person basis, provided that he cannot divide his votes to any person

to any extent;

3.  Persons receiving the most votes are those who are elected to be directors, in descending order, to
the number of directors who are to be elected. If there is a tie in the last to be elected and this exceeds

the said number of directors, the presiding chairman shall have an additional casting vote.

Removal of a director from office before the end of term shall require a resolution of shareholders by not
less than three-fourths of the total votes of shareholders attending the meeting and eligible to vote and
not less than one-half of the total number of shares held by shareholders attending the meeting and eligible

to vote.
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REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AND MANAGEMENT

1. Remuneration in Cash for the year ended 31 March 2018

1.1 Total cash remuneration of the Board of Directors in form of meeting fee, pension
and others.

- As stipulated in the Company’s Articles of Association clause no. 14, the Company’ Directors shall be
entitled to receive the remuneration for their performance of duties and the meeting fee for attending
each of Board of Directors’ meeting of Baht 25,000 per meeting and of Baht 10,000 per meeting in
case of audit committee meeting. In addition to the fee for attending the Board of Directors’ meeting
as aforesaid, the Company’s Directors shall be entitled for reimbursement for any expenses incurred
by Directors during the performance of their duties as a Director of the Company on account of

travelling, lodging and/or boarding, as the case may be. Details of remuneration are as follows.

Board of Directors Audit Committee
Name Position Attendance| Fees |Attendance| Fees Remark
(Times) (Baht) (Times) (Baht)
1. Mr. Kumar Mangalam Chairman of the Board 0/4 - - - Being foreign
Birla director
2. Mrs. Rajashree Birla  Director 0/4 - - - Being foreign
director
3. Mr. Shyam Sundar Independent Director/ 4/4 100,000 4/4 40,000
Mahansaria Chairman of the Audit
Committee
4. Mr. Vinai Sachdev Independent Director/ 4/4 100,000 4/4 40,000
Member of the Audit
Committee
5. Mr. Prabhu Narain Independent Director/ 3/4 75,000 3/4 30,000
Mathur Member of the Audit
Committee
6. Mr. Dilip Singh Gaur ¥ Director 2/3 50,000 - - Being foreign
director and
attended one
meeting of the
Board through
video conference
7. Dr. Bir Kapoor ¥ Director 3/3 75,000 - -
8. Mr. Krishna Kishore  Director 0/1 - - - Being foreign
Maheshwari ¥ director
9. Mr. Hari Krishna Director 1/1 25,000 - -
Agarwal ¥
Total Amount (Baht) 425,000 110,000

Remark: ¥ Mr. Dilip Singh Gaur and Dr. Bir Kapoor appointed as director effective 21 July 2017.
% Mr. Krishna Kishore Maheshwari and Mr. Hari Krishna Agarwal resigned from the directorship effective
30 May 2017.
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Total remuneration of the Board of Directors in cash for the past three years are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March
Derails of remuneration

2018 2017 2016
1. Meeting fee of the Board of Directors 425,000 500,000 400,000
2. Meeting fee of the Audit Committee 110,000 120,000 110,000
3. Pension to a Director and reimbursement of expenses 4,816,814 5,211,728 3,173,673
Total Remuneration (Baht) 5,351,814 5,831,728 3,683,673

Remark: Theremuneration to directorsis appropriate based on their position and responsibilities. The pension and reimbursement

of expenses to a director has been approved by the annual general meeting of shareholders dated 29 January 2002.

1.2 Total remuneration of the Company’s management are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March
Details of remuneration

2018 2017 2016
No. of management (persons) 5 6 6
Total remuneration (Baht) 33,608,488 41,798,938 36,674,677

2. Other Remunerations
. Provident Fund

Details of the Company’s contribution to provident fund for management are as follows.

For the year ended 31 March
Contribution to Provident Fund

2018 2017 2016
No. of management (persons) 5 6 6
Contribution to provident fund (Baht) - - -
Remark: - For the year 2018, management consists of 5 persons - (1) Dr. Bir Kapoor (2) Mr. Prasan Kumar Sipani

(3) Mr. Suresh Sundaram (4) Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kaul (Retired on 21 May 2017) (5) Mr. Pramod Khandelwal

- For the year 2017, management consists of 6 persons - (1) Dr. Bir Kapoor (2) Mr. Prasan Kumar Sipani
(3) Mr. Ram Gopal Agrawal (retired on 20 January 2017) (4) Mr. Suresh Sundaram (joined on 27 December 2016)
(5) Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kaul (6) Mr. Pramod Khandelwal
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SHAREHOLDING REPORT OF THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

No. of ordinary shares

Name Position 31 March | 31 March /)
+ -
2018 2017
1. Mr. Kumar Mangalam Birla Chairman of the Board - - -
2. Mrs. Rajashree Birla Director - - -
3. Mr.Shyam Sundar Mahansaria Independent Director/ 2,050 2,050 -
Chairman of Audit Committee
4. Mr. Vinai Sachdev Independent Director/ 1,449,480 1,449,480 -
member of Audit Committee
5. Mr. Prabhu Narain Mathur Independent Director/ 9,000 9,000 -

member of Audit Committee

6. Mr. Dilip Singh Gaur ¥ Director - - -
7. Dr. Bir Kapoor ¥ Director/ Group Executive President - - -
8. Mr. Prasan Kumar Sipani President - - -
9. Mr. Suresh Sundaram Senior Vice President (Technical) - - -
10. Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kaul ¥ Vice President (Engineering) - - -
11. Mr. Pramod Khandelwal Vice President (Finance & Commercial) - - -
Remark: - Number of ordinary shares shown above includes the shares held by spouse and minor children.

/" Mr. Dilip Singh Gaur and Dr. Bir Kapoor appointed as director effective 21 July 2017.

2 Mr. Sanjiv Kumar Kaul retired on 21 May 2017.
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PRODUCTION AND RAW MATERIALS PROCUREMENT

Production

Thai Rayon has five production lines with a combined annual capacity of 151,000 tons. Anhydrous Sodium
Sulphate is a by-product of the production of Viscose Staple Fibre (VSF). The Company also produces carbon
disulphide (CS,) and sulphuric acid which is used in the production of VSF by the Company.

Production For the year ended 31 March
Unit : Metric Tons 2018 2017 2016
Viscose Staple Fibre 138,800 124,225 139,367
Sodium Sulphate 105,597 98,027 111,439

Raw Materials Procurement

The raw materials form a very significant portion of the cost structure of the Company. The details of key raw

materials and issues relating to the same are as follows:
. Dissolving Grade Wood Pulp

The rayon grade wood pulp is 100% imported and is mainly sourced from South Africa and Canada. The
Company has long term supply agreements linked to international indices to secure its pulp requirement
at competitive market prices to ensure uninterrupted supply of material for its operations. This year, the
average cost increased marginally by 1% compared to the last year. Prices are expected to remain in the

same range in next year with stable supply of dissolving grade pulp.
- Caustic Soda

The prices of caustic soda remained higher throughout of the year. Thus, the average cost increased by
37% compared to the last year. The prices are expected to remain firm during the next year due to weak
demand for chlorine derivatives which limits caustic soda production, higher power cost and strong demand
from some sectors. Almost 85% of our requirement for caustic soda is met from domestic sources under

long term supply contract and remaining requirement is procured in spot market.
. Sulphur

This product is used in the manufacture of carbon disulphide (CS,) and sulphuric acid (H,SO,). The Company
meets its requirement from both imports and domestic sources. Most of the requirement is being sourced

under contract linked to international indices. The average cost increased by 18% compared to the last year.
. Natural Gas

Natural gas is used in the manufacture of CS, at the plant situated in Saraburi. The supply is made under
a long-term contract. The gas price is linked to formulae based on fuel oil price in Singapore and exchange
rate of Thai Baht to US Dollars, as applicable to other gas users. Prices of gas were higher during the year

due to increase in fuel oil price.
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Global Fibre Production 2017

Other 15.69
(-4.72%Y0Y)

Cotton 26.04
(4.19% YQY)

Figure in Million MT

VSF 5.30
(1.86% YOY)

Polyester 51.29
(3.79%Y0Y)
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INDUSTRY OUTLOOK AND COMPETITION

The global textile overall fiber production is expected to increase to 98.3 Million Tons in year 2017 as compared
to0 96.1 Million Tons in year 2016 recording growth of 2.3%. Cotton production, which constitutes 26% of overall
fibre basket, grew by 4.2% in 2017 to 26.04 Million Tons. Viscose staple fibre (VSF) which continued to have
healthy growth of nearly 8% during calendar years 2013-2015 has started to slow down in 2016-2017. VSF
production grew to 5.3 Million Tons in 2017, recording a growth rate of 1.9%. VSF production capacity at the
end of calendar year 2017 stands at around 6.3 Million Tons with surplus of nearly one million tons representing
16% of capacity. VSF Capacity is expected to increase by 19% in year 2018 taking the surplus to 27%. China

continues to dominate the global viscose fiber (VSF) production with almost 66% share of the total global capacity.

VSF demand growth is expected at about 4% in next few years. This situation is expected to bring pressure on
VSF prices and margins in short term over next couple of years. However, growth in demand of non-woven and

modal fibre is expected to be higher in short to medium term.

The global fiber production for Year 2017 (based on latest estimates) is as under:-

Global Fibre Production 2017

Other 15.69
(-4.72%YQY)

Cotton 26.04
(4.19% YQY)

Figure in Million MT

VSF 5.30
(1.86% YOY)

Polyester 51.29
(3.79%YQY)
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The textile industry in Thailand is continuing to find very difficult to remain competitive due to higher labor and
energy costs thereby losing its competitive edge in textile value chain. As a result in recent years many of the
yarn manufacturing facilities are getting closed which in turn has resulted in to reduction of import of cotton
fibers, a major raw material for spinning industries, by an average of around 16 % in year 2017 & 2016. Similarly,

the textile and clothing exports from Thailand declined by an average of 3.3% in year 2017 & 2016.

Market Outlook

The sales revenue for the year ended 31 March 2018 was Baht 10,032 Million as compared to Baht 9,080 Million
of last year, higher by 10% or Baht 952 Million mainly due to higher sales volume by 12%. VSF Sales volume in
export market increased by 20% whereas domestic markets decreased by 25% compared to the same period of
last year. Lower sales volume in last year was caused by production cuts due to implementation of MOU with
local authorities. Though VSF prices increased in US Dollar terms by 5% but decreased by 1% in Thai Baht due
to appreciation of Thai Bahtin FY 17-18 over FY 16-17 by 6%. In terms of geographical spread, exports are broader
based covering more than 38 countries including USA, Europe, Turkey, South Korea, Japan, Taiwan, Philippines,
Indonesia, Pakistan, Vietnam, China, India and Sri Lanka. This diversification helps in protecting the Company

from political and financial risks affecting economic conditions in few countries from time to time.

The Company has successfully maintained its presence in high end international markets. The Company has also
been making continuous efforts in boosting sales of finer denier, coarser denier and other specialty fibres for
better realizations. The Company continues to place strong focus on productivity and quality in order to maintain
its competitiveness in long run.
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alangnuLeae Tiues 1ea.1a.8. ¥ 20087 Ua.27me Wasan wnidad (Uszndlne)
Alexandria Fiber Co.S.A.E. ¥ ' Aditya Birla Chemical (Thailand) Co.,Ltd.

|

USJ@.i‘V]EJﬂ’]ﬁ.I@uLLUﬁﬂ
Thai Carbon Black Plc.

24.98%
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IAsvdaSIvs19ladovusun
REVENUE STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 March / ﬁ’m%’uﬂﬁugmﬁ'uﬁ 31 AuAN

Products / Services 2018 / 2561 2017 / 2560 2016 / 2559
NRARATUN / LUSMS

Amount % Amount % Amount %
AMUIURU | FRmar [dwuiku| Semar |4 wiunRu| Sadaz

1. Viscose Staple Fibre / Wilesaeu

- Domestic Sales/ aapaneludlszing 1,244 12 1,655 18 1,922 21
- Export Sales / aananaaglszing 8,341 81 7,027 76 6,761 73
3. Sodium Sulphate / inda LAz tamn 397 4 346 4 405 4
4. Other Income / ﬁ"]ﬂblﬁﬁl‘u 289 3 200 2 204 2

Total Revenues / s18ilagau 10,271 100 9,228 100 9,292 100
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TnsvAS19S19IAFOINISSOUAT
USENSOUIIA:USENNINY2dON

REVENUE STRUCTURE OF JOINT VENTURE/
ASSOCIATED /RELATED COMPANIES

Unit : Million Baht / #1198l : 874119

For the year ended 31 March
Company Name ﬁﬁﬂg‘lﬂﬂauq@’:ﬁlﬁ 31 ﬁu'lﬂ&l
TaUTEN 2018 2017 2016
2561 2560 2559
AV Terrace Bay Inc. AVTB 7,319 6,973 7,393

1390 187 WaLed el a9A

Aditya Birla Chemicals (Thailand) Ltd. ABCT 17,200 15,963 15,962

o

15390 afmen Wwesan wNAad (Uszmalng) a1dm
Aditya Birla Elyaf Sanayi ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi ABES 3 84 25
Aditya Group AB AGAB 8,273 9,815 11,031
151 afaen niu 1od

AV Group NB Inc. AVG 8,774 8,832 8,577
131 107 nFi 18ull BeA

Birla Jingwei Fibres Co.,Ltd. BJFC 6,893 6,434 5,616
1310 1wesan aaws lwwes andn

Birla Lao Pulp & Plantations Co.,Ltd. BLPP* - 1 2
136N LLaFAN a1 NaW Laus WNALWNTY a1

PT Indo Liberty Textiles ILT 4,253 4,339 4,047
151 W91 Ul Alwesh Windlng

Thai Acrylic Fibre Co.,Ltd. TAF 6,906 6,682 11,016
151 lne ar3am liwas andm

Thai Carbon Black Public Co.,Ltd. TCB 7,769 5,467 5,247

153159 IneAFueuwufa ANAR (W)

Thai Polyphosphate & Chemicals Co.,Ltd. TPC 624 503 534
151 Ine InanesnmnLazpiinet a1

68,014 65,093 69,450

Remark: * under asset held for sale
winewn:  * agnnaliauningsaniaue
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JAAINUAYNUIUNISSOUAN
USBNsSOUIIA:USENNINY2dON
INVESTMENT VALUE IN JOINT VENTURE/
ASSOCIATED/RELATED COMPANIES

Unit : Million Baht / 91428l : 811079

% of Investment Value | Investment Value
) Company ) )
Shareholding Name Country Type of Business at Cost at Equity Method
% . Uszina Uszinngsna HURINU Ruamu
o v Fauiein P o o
maianu TusiAnu TneREdulaide
60.00% AVTB Canada Manufacture of paper grade pulp 1,289 -
LALIAT naRElad M IRINIzAE
Total Investment in Joint Venture / i’mﬁuawgu’lumiéfmﬁﬁ 1,289 -
29.98% ABCT Thailand Manufacture of chemical products 510 3,734
na HARANTLAT
33.33% ABES Turkey Manufacture of viscose staple fibre 3 7
man nAnEuleseany
33.33% AGAB Sweden Investment holding company and Bio-refinery 1,824 1,348
AAU & Speciality cellulose
sEniansaauuaslsandudianin
42.53% BJFC China Manufacture of viscose staple fibre 1,388 503
arossigszanaudn  namduloseey
30.0% BLPP " Lao PDR Manufacture of dissolving grade wood pulp - -
an8190u5g HARLEANTYANT
tlszandullmenlszanau
a1
40.0% ILT Indonesia Manufacture of yarn 198 303
ulaflida HARLAUANE
30.0% TAF Thailand Manufacture of acrylic fibre 407 384
Ing uamduloanian
24.98% TCB Thailand Manufacture of carbon black 236 4,082
ne NARKIAEIAN
49.0% TPL Thailand Investment holding company 64 2,942
el FEnNen9aaY
Total Investment in Associated Companies / i"mL?mngu’Luu?‘ﬁ'ﬂé’m 4,631 13,304
19.0% AVG Canada Manufacture of dissolving grade wood pulp 628 n/a
LAUIAN NARLEaNITANE
14.4% AFCO? Egypt Manufacture of acrylic fiore - n/a
Al nandulaarsan
7.56% ITS Thailand Manufacture of yarn 42 n/a
na HARLAUAE
0.02% TPC Thailand Manufacture of hydrogen peroxide 7 n/a
Ine duanlalasaunlasdanlasd
33.33% AGAB Sweden Investment holding company and Bio-refinery 260 n/a
AU & Speciality cellulose
UFEniansaauuaslsandudianan
Total Investment in Related Companies / sa8RuasulutFumilifeadas 937

Remark:

" Under asset held for sale

?Under liquidation

NREMR):

Yo it o -
agNe ARUNINEIFANNTUNE

2 gejgyuinannadnsetingd
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Tuszndnedl L3¥ne N?ﬁﬂﬂ’]?ﬁiﬂ@‘ﬂ@ﬁﬂﬂ.lﬂ‘i.l‘i.lﬂﬂ@ﬁ?ﬂﬂ@ﬂ"lﬂ‘%Lﬂ?;I’J“lI‘ﬂ\‘iﬂu i’\ﬂﬂ’ﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬂ@ﬂ\?ﬂ@ﬁ’)Lﬂuiﬂﬁﬁmﬁ‘ﬂuvlﬁﬂ

Vl’]\?ﬂ’]ﬁ‘ﬂ’]LL@“’LﬂELL"V]Gl’]NVIﬁ]ﬂ@\?ﬂ‘L&ﬁ'”M'J’W\?U?HV]”I LL@""LIﬂﬂ@ﬂﬁ‘@‘].l?‘]:m%mﬂ@“ll@dm@’]uu w,ﬂuiﬂmmﬂnﬁ ﬁ' _

Tneansnsnaq/ldail
TauFEn / AN sela AN ldane
szinngsma ANANNUS
ua.1eq welet wel - uEvy Doty - penieFuainRuliEn 1,499,000 v -lald-
B9A Faray 60.00
- N3N - fAnssunis WMAKNATBIMSYINTIAMS WMAKNATIRIMIYINTIEMS
- Huasmgadiuiy  dauriu -pendentdfudauiniudnmnain -l

NINTZAI

vAuefan Aadd - 13ENY Datu

Wwaf Sasay 42.53
Y a =

- Huandule - 2N33UN7T
BRI FNU

- gendulenseai 546,480,000 LN
- A ld|Ne5UAY 151,000 U
WRNATBIMSINgIEMS

- nngnendulensaaniulilnnusainana -

- A ldAnaszrdnaiudnAnlusA Y

- AuEnslAnEnen 18,852,000
UM

LMAKATRIMSYINTIEMS

uin1sliandinenad1uteya

granssndamalulszinaan 19

NNFATILALUAIUNITAAIA NNTLTNNS
N . o o o

anA nasatduayundnidudug

WALIFENY
ua.\9 auln -3 et - anedulalswew 82,707,000 L laift-
dwed Windlnd  Yeuaw 40.00 - Ruffunaiu 2,579,000 UM
- dudAsdusng - Anssunng WMRNATBIMSINgIEMS WRNATRIMSINgIEMS
N - manadulessuiiulausmainain -1dd-
Aditya Birla -1 Detfu - Ruifunady 15,747,000 1w laift-
Elyaf Sanayi Fauay 33.33
ve Ticaret - fnssunns WMRNATBIMSINgIEMS WRNATRIMSINgIEMS
- uanduly o ald- Laid-
BN

aa a o A %
‘LI'%I.VL‘V]E AATAA - UTHNY DAY

waf $pe1az 30.00
Y a Y =

- Huandule - ng98N"7
AATAA FN

- Rutlurasu 21,373,000 LN

WAARAUBIMSIINTIEMS
-lai-

- AnldansdnsyAn 312,000 LN

LBANATRIMSYINTIAMS
- Anldanesndneiudniivlusainu
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. Transactions with Related Companies

During the years, the Company had significant business transactions with related parties. Such transactions,

which are summarized below, arose in the ordinary course of business and were concluded on commercial

terms and bases agreed upon between the Company and those related parties.

Company Name /
Type of Business

Nature of Relationship

Revenue Transaction

Expense Transaction

AV Terrace Bay Inc.

- Joint venture

- Manufacture of
paper grade pulp

- 60.00% Shareholding
- Common Directors

- Interest received on loan: Baht
1,499,000

Rationale of transaction:

- Interest received is comparable
to the market rate

-NIL-

Rationale of transaction:
-NA-

Birla Jingwei Fibres

Co.,Ltd.

- Manufacture of
Fibre

42.53% Shareholding
Common Directors

- Sale of fibre: Baht 546,480,000

- Recovery of expenses: Baht
151,000

Rationale of transaction:

- The sale of fibre is at market
price.

- Recovery of expenses is at cost.

- Consultancy Service: Baht
18,852,000

Rationale of transaction:

- Consultancy/advisory services
for Chinese textile industry
information, marketing
support, customers service
and other necessary supports
to the Company.

PT. Indo Liberty

Textile

- Manufacture of
yarn

40.00% Shareholding
Common Directors

- Sale of fibre: Baht 82,707,000

- Dividend received: Baht
2,579,000

Rationale of transaction:

-NIL-

Rationale of transaction:

- The sale of fibre is at market -NA-
price.

Aditya Birla Elyaf - 33.33% Shareholding - Dividend received: Baht -NIL-
Sanayi Ve Ticaret - Common Directors 15,747,000
- Manufacture of Rationale of transaction: Rationale of transaction:

Fibre -NA- -NA-
Thai Acrylic Fibre - 30.00% Shareholding - Dividend received: Baht - Reimbursement of expenses:
Co.,Ltd. - Common Directors 21,373,000 Baht 312,000
- Manufacture of Rationale of transaction: Rationale of transaction:

acrylic fibre -NA- - Reimbursement of expenses is

at cost.
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TauTEN /
szinngsna

ANEUL
AMNANNUE

gele

AN LA

1. AR LafaT
AR
(Uszmdalna)

- uanadsinel

- 134 Dty
fpaaz 29.98
- finssuns
TN

- Ruilunaiu 25,480,000 LW
- adangilnsal 12,000 Um

LRARAIBIMSYINTIEMS
- maadagEaniulusmaiu

Felaanlo, '?zwl,muﬂé"@ﬂ?nmﬁ'
60,246,000 1N

%@fm@'ﬁgﬂmni 59,000 L
Anassuiann sl d AN uiuuned
Taa1ln 15,000 Un
AnldanedszAU 1,345,000 LW

Lﬁﬁlﬂﬂ'ﬂ‘aﬂm‘iﬁﬂ‘ﬂﬂm‘i

ABCT wluguanlanlnselunlu
dszinalng uwazidunilaluasq
ve Ao X
garmenandueiidlulsznalng
A mFudnnAunaniuseing ladnae
ann ABCT lusianfiiieuwiniy
$IAIARTA NITANTTAALUUN
o o d da e
gandaraidusnarmifiauyiniy
21ARAA
magadasdulimnsmanu
naanaAnsssNtaun g ininEen
ALAINIIATYU

Al eszndneAudmivlusAmu

A, lng Ansuau
LLAA
- HNARMSaNIAY

- 131 Dty
Sauay 24.98
- {inssuns
Foufu

- AndntiuAniuses 3,240,000 L
- Ruflunady 59,950,000 U
AnldaneFuAY 2,437,000 LW
LUANALRIMSIINGIAMS

- U Wgnuiniuses wazananeny
Ylnaaus un TCB e ldiutiuin

NINULATNAIT8Y TCB
- Anlddnesznaneiudaiivlusainu

falatnlarndasnu 326,882,000 U
AnldanstnsAL 643,000 LN

Lﬂﬁlﬂﬂ‘ll’ﬂ\‘im‘iﬁ’l‘ﬂilm’i

TCB wanlatuazndsnuiady
dawiislunszuunisndn Aenns
wamlevuaznd LFEme dnde
mm@%ﬂ‘llmﬁziﬁﬁfyﬁmn TCB A
$IAAAT

A ldaneszudnaiudnivlusmu

= 2] @
1a.189 n31l 18Ul
NG

A o A 9
- 1360 Daviu
$aeaz 19.00

9 o =~
- HRARALEANTISANY - NNTTNNT

gipazastinle

FouAY

=

X o a ¥ ¥ 2 ¥
- pendafuainRuliganaingney
4,103,000 1
mqwmmma‘ﬁwwmi
X Anve o Y
- ﬂ'ﬁ]ﬂL‘]_I?;I‘VlbLﬂﬁ“LlLVIEIULVWT]‘LI@[;]’J"W]'ZQ'W]

U

Haifiansyane 2,018,340,000 LW

Lﬁﬁ!ﬂﬂ‘ﬂﬂﬁmiﬁ’]‘i”lﬂmi

1A dnynynazezenalunnaiue
4 - Yy ud
\Wanszansaiiaazanatnldaadu
v = ds o . 4
TagAundnAty waziluseiiiay
WReiusAnLeega Mg gay
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Company Name / Revenue Transaction

Type of Business

Nature of Relationship Expense Transaction

Aditya Birla - 29.98% Shareholding - Dividend received: Baht - Purchase of caustic soda and

Chemicals (Thailand) - Common Directors 25,480,000 auxiliary materials: Baht

Co.,Ltd. - Sale of store material: Baht 60,246,000

- Manufacture of 12,000 - Purchase of store material:
chemical products Baht 59,000

- Electricity charges of caustic
soda tank: Baht 15,000

- Reimbursement of expenses:
Baht 1,345,000

Rationale of transaction: Rationale of transaction:

- Sales of store is at cost. - ABCTisaprincipal manufacturer
of caustic sodain Thailand and
one of the two domestic
suppliers of this product. For
this key raw material, the
Company pays to ABCT a
comparable market price. The
purchase of auxiliary material
is done at market price.

- Purchase of store material is at
cost.
- The payment for electricity
charges is at cost.
- Reimbursement of expenses is
at cost.

Purchase of steam and power:

Baht 326,882,000

Reimbursement of expenses:

Baht 643,000

Thai Carbon Black -24.98% Shareholding
Public Co.,Ltd. - Common Directors
- Manufacture of

carbon black

- Rentincome for housing colony: -
Baht 3,240,000

- Dividend received: Baht -
59,950,000

- Recovery of expenses: Baht
2,437,000

Rationale of transaction:

- The Company rents out part of

Rationale of transaction:
- TCB produces steam and

housing, guesthouse and other
facilities in its colony to TCB for
housing its employees and

power as part of its operations.
The Company purchases these
critical utilities from TCB at

guests.
- Recovery of expenses is at cost.

formula linked to market price.

- Reimbursement of expenses is
at cost.

- Purchase of pulp: Baht
2,018,340,000

Rationale of transaction:

- The Company has long-term
agreement for dissolving grade
wood pulp, its primary raw
material, at rate comparable
to an independent supplier.

AV Group NB Inc. - 19.00% Shareholding
- Manufacture of - Common Directors
dissolving grade
wood pulp

- Interestreceived onshareholders’
loan: Baht 4,103,000

Rationale of transaction:

- The interest rate is comparable
to the market rates.
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Faudin / AN sela Algans
szinngsna ANANNUS
ua.aula-lne -1 Detu - anedulaiseew 545,990,000 U alg-
TUNRAd faraz 7.56 - Ruilunady 159,000 Ln
- fudsdusng - dnssunng WANATRIMSINgIEMS WANATRIMSINgIEMS
i - 178 lugnAnludszmanalnnjaes -lad-
Uiy nsnadulesaewdulinig
$1AAAA
va Inaulefdenlas - 13 Detfu - Ruilunaiy 520,000 1 - dedaguuuniendana 19,000 1w
- duanlalasian Feeav 00233  wARAIRIMSINTIEMS WRNATRIMSINgIEMS
waesdenlas - Anssunis aldl- - msTedanuuuniendanaidullnnm
FANY TIANRANA

= a o = P 2 a o
UA.NINTH Budassd - Devfuluiizeny
- duamdulunay fesar 0.532

- Ruiluwady 6,556,000 LN
- Anld[ns5uAn 737,000 U

- AnldanednszAn 173,000 LN
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¥ a v 13 3| =l
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- Huandudine - maadulaseeuiiullaunainan -lad-
vA.1uafan - {ingsunns laift- - AldAne@u 1,136,000 U
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Company Name /
Type of Business

Nature of Relationship

Revenue Transaction

Expense Transaction

Indo-Thai Synthetics

Co.,Ltd.

- Manufacture of
yarn

- 7.56% Shareholding
- Common Directors

- Sale of fibre: Baht 545,990,000

- Dividend received: Baht
159,000

Rationale of transaction:

- ITS has been one of the big
domestic customers of the
Company. The sale of fibre is at
market rate.

-NIL-

Rationale of transaction:
_NA_

Thai Peroxide Co.,Ltd.
- Manufacture of
hydrogen peroxide

- 0.0233% Shareholding

- Common Directors

- Dividend received: Baht 520,000

Rationale of transaction:
_NA_

- Purchase of auxiliary material:
Baht 19,000

Rationale of transaction:

- Purchase of auxiliary material
is at market price.

Grasim Industries

Limited

- Manufacture of
fibre and cement

- 0.532% Shareholding
- Common Directors

- Dividend received: Baht
6,556,000

- Recovery of expenses: Baht
737,000

Rationale of transaction:

- Recovery of expenses is at cost.

- Reimbursement of expenses:
Baht 173,000

Rationale of transaction:
- Reimbursement of expenses is
at cost.

PT. Elegant Textile - Common Directors - Sale of fibre: Baht 163,583,000 -NIL-
Industry Rationale of transaction: Rationale of transaction:
- Manufacture of - The sale of fibre is at market -NA-
yarn price.
PT. Sunrise Bumi - Common Directors - Sale of fibre: Baht 61,655,000 -NIL-
Textile Rationale of transaction: Rationale of transaction:
- Manufacture of - The sale of fibre is at market -NA-
yarn price.
PT.Indo Bharat Rayon - Common Directors - Sale of store material: Baht - Purchase of sodium sulphate:
- Manufacture of 1,351,000 Baht 1,341,000

yarn

- Recovery of expenses: Baht
9,000

Rationale of transaction:

- Sale of store material is at cost.

- Recovery of expenses is at cost.

Rationale of transaction:
- Purchase of sodium sulphate
is at market price.

Indophil Textile - Common Directors - Sale of Fibre: Baht 3,141,000  -NIL-
Mills Inc. Rationale of Transaction: Rationale of Transaction:
- Manufacture of - The sale of fibre is at market -NA-
Spun Yarn price
Birla Management - Common Directors -NIL- - Otherexpenses: Baht 1,136,000
Centre Service Rationale of transaction: Rationale of transaction:
- Management -NA- - Other expenses are for various
advisory services at market rate.
Aditya Birla Nuvo Ltd. - Common Directors -NIL- -NIL-
Rationale of transaction: Rationale of transaction:
-NA- -NA-
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2. Other transactions between the Company with associated and related companies

These are shown in Notes to Financial Statement no. 6.

3. Necessity and Rationality of Connected Transactions

The connected transactions among the Company, associated and related companies have to follow the
normal operations and general trade conditions. Conditions and prices are in line with market price, which
is comparable to prices charged to other customers and for maximizing benefits to all stakeholders of the

Company.

4. Measures and Procedures for Approval of Connected Transactions

The Company requests the Board of Directors, with presence of the Audit Committee to approve connected
transaction where are reasonable and fair for stakeholders as well as has appropriate pricing policy. The

directors, who have conflict of interest, cannot vote to approve such connected transactions.

5. Policies or Outlook for Future Connected Transactions

-None-

6. Opinion Report of the Audit Committee for Connected Transactions

-None-
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RISK FACTORS

The Company has a systematic method of risk identification, impact assessment and mitigation. Senior executives
supervise risk management. Also the Audit Committee reviews various risks associated with the business and
advises management from time to time about appropriateness of the Company’s risk management policies and

measures.

The Company has identified following major risks related to its business:

1. Risks relating to Revenues and Profits
. Risk of fluctuation in Raw Material Prices

The prices of the three raw materials, pulp, caustic soda and sulphur, are key drivers of production costs.
Prices of these products vary based on economics of respective product’s demand and supply and influence
the profitability of the Company. The ability to pass on the full impact of the increased cost through higher
selling prices of rayon fibre is not consistent due to fluctuation in textile market conditions, competition
from other VSF producers and substitute fibres. The Company follows a consistent policy of buying most
of its pulp and caustic soda requirement on monthly basis under contract and sulfur requirement on both
spot and contract basis. Sales of finished product are transacted mostly on monthly basis. Buying of pulp,
caustic soda and Sulphur linked to monthly market indices helps to maintain market relationship between

input costs and output revenues.
. Risk from Selling Prices of Substitute Fibres

Cotton and Polyester are main substitute of fibres of viscose staple fibre (VSF). While VSF is substantially
used in 100% viscose made products, other fibres are blended depending on prices and consumer preference.
Prices of cotton fibre is greatly influenced by crop performance, acreage under cultivation and pricing
policies controlled by governments whereas prices of polyester is influenced by crude oil and petrochemical
products market. Other fibres have some potential to exert influence on VSF prices. This carries risks as

well as provides opportunities.

2. Risks relating to Marketing
. Risk of Customer Exposure

The Company extends credit period of one week to three months to most of its domestic customers. Sales
to all domestic customers are unsecured. The Company exports most of its products to several countries
mostly against letters of credit (L/C) or partial or full advance payment depending on customers’ business
standing and other relevant factors. However, the Company closely monitors exposure of account receivables

by adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures including insurance coverage in some cases.
. Risk of Country Exposure

South East Asia, South Asia, Europe and Turkey are major export markets for the Company’s products. The
Company has a policy to promote its product to new countries to enlarge its customer base. The Company
exports its products to more than 38 countries. Hence, the Company’s sales volumes are well diversified.
However, the Company is still exposed to the political and financial risks faced by a few countries from time

to time.
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. Risk of New Applications

Over the years, the Company has developed products that are usable on various types of spinning machines
including ring spinning, higher efficiency open end machines and air jet vortex machines. Yarn made from
the Company’s product is used on both weaving and knitting machines. Therefore, risk of new applications
is low. Through sustained up-gradation of its expertise and capability, the Company is capable of handling
the demanding requirements of various segments. The Company has accelerated pace of new product

development and quickly stabilized quality of its new products mitigating the risk of quality related claims.
. Risk of Product Obsolesce

The Company keeps a track of new product development in the cellulose family through the R&D centre
of the Group in India. The Company does not foresee any product obsolesce risk for its current product

range.

3. Risks relating to Financial Management
. Exchange Rate Risk on Forex Flows

The Company exports around 85% of its production volume mainly in US Dollar currency. At the same time,
the key raw materials are also imported, mainly in US Dollar currency. The Company manages its foreign
currency risks of export and import transactions by matching US Dollar inflows and outflows. In the event
of appreciation of Thai Baht against US Dollar in long term, the Company’s export earnings are negatively
impacted. The Company does not hedge its long term equity investments and investment in available-for-

sale-securities which the Company continues to hold as long term investment.
. Interest Rate on Loans

The Company borrows working capital loans from time to time in local and foreign currency. The interest

rate variations impact the interest costs of the Company.
. Interest Rate and Credit Risk on Short-Term Investments

Interest rate fluctuates from time to time with domestic monetary conditions and related international
factors. The Company has some surplus cash position from time to time which is placed on short-term with

banks. The interest rate variations impact the interest income earned by the Company.

The Company makes every effort to exercise utmost prudence in selecting healthy financial institutions
and fixing up credit exposure limit for each institution at varying maturity tenors but mostly not over one

year for such investments.
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4. Risks from Operations
. Risk related to Environment

During the process of manufacturing of viscose staple fibre, various liquid and air pollutants are generated.
The Company has appropriate facilities for treatment of pollutants before discharge. The Company has
made substantial investments over the years and continues to strengthen its environment and pollution
control system. It presently meets the standards prescribed by the Ministry of Industry. All the solid wastes
of the Company are properly segregated and sent for disposal or usage to duly licensed vendors and cement
manufacturers. The Company’s air emission levels and waste water discharge are well within legal standards
and the same are regularly monitored by the Company and the regulators. Recently, the Company has
successfully implemented second phase of a project to further increase recovery of carbon disulphide
which has been a major milestone in improving environmental sustainability. The Company has also
strengthened its work process for environment management and has taken various other steps to improve
air quality in its neighborhood out of its care and concern for community. Despite incresed capacity of
recovery system and other continous improvements, individual perceptions of odour varies from person
to person. The Company keeps the community informed of its initiatives including regular visits to plant
by community members. In view of the above, the Company perceives the risk of any accidental disturbance

to environment to be medium to high.
. Risk from Storage and Handling

The Company and contractors transport hazardous chemicals like caustic soda, sulphur, carbon disulphide
and sulphuric acid. These chemicals are stored at the Company’s premises. The Company follows applicable
standards for their transportation and storage. Though there has never been any serious accident relating
to storage and handling of these products, the Company perceives the risk of accidental mis-operation

caused by unforeseen factors.
. Risk from Raw Material Availability

The Company has long term agreements for supply of dissolving grade wood pulp and caustic soda with
major supplier(s). The Company has also started buying majority portion of sulfur under formula linked to
indices. This has reduced the risk of raw material availability for the Company’s operations. However, there
would be some dependence on spot purchases of pulp, caustic soda and sulphur which the Company can

secure generally.
. Risk from Manufacturing Operations

The Company has an established preventive and predictive maintenance system to ensure good health of
all its manufacturing equipments. It also has a system of replacement of equipment after designated life.
The Company is highly committed to safety of its employees and contractors and follows professional safety
program. The Company promotes a very high level of safety consciousness amongst all employees and
rigorous training and investment in all the necessary safety equipment. The Company also conducts mock

drills to ensure highest standard of alertness.
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External Risks
Geo-political Risk

The geo political events like terrorism cast their repercussions worldwide, increasing costs and risks of

business and impacting supply and demand cycles.
Risk from Regulatory changes in countries where the Company has investments

The Company has made strategic investments (backward and forward integration) by subscribing in equity
capital of companies registered in other countries, along with other group companies. While the Company
does envisage the general business risks to such investments, a regulatory change in those countries may

have some impact on their financial performance.
Global Financial Markets Risks

Global economy is strengthening by recovery in advanced economies, continued strong growth in emerging
Asia, and signs of recovery in several commodity exporting countries. Global growth is expected to maintain
growth momentum due to favorable market sentiment and countinued recovery in most of the advanced

countries.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company has continued to put emphasis on the internal control system. The Board ensures that sufficient
control systems are in place at various levels of organization to ensure efficient and effective operations of the
Company along with accuracy and trustworthiness of the accounting system and financial statements. The
Company also takes appropriate measures to ensure compliance with laws and relevant rules. The internal

control sufficiency is reviewed on regular basis.

The Board of Directors’ meeting on 24 May 2018 has also reviewed the appropriateness and sufficiency of the
internal control. Internal audit being conducted by Corporate Management Audit Division, an Aditya Birla Group’s
professional internal audit division and the Report of Audit Committee also helps in further strengthening the

internal control systems. The relevant important sections of internal controls are as follows:

1. Organization and Environment

The Company has clearly set up an appropriate organization structure, duties and job responsibilities for
better internal control system and for timely response to the changing environment in order to address

the short-term and long-term plan of the Company.

2. Risk Management

The Company clearly specifies organizational objectives and assesses business risk factors, internal and
external, which could obstruct the Company from achieving business goals under specified budget. There

is a process to analyze the causes of risk factors and prepare strategies to handle the risk factors.

3. Executives’ Operation Control

The internal control and evaluation systems are segregated for cross examination. The scope of duty and
roles are clearly specified. The appropriate internal control is placed on the management and the Board
also reviews the management’s performance. The Board reviews and approves the annual business plan
to ensure that core activities are covered and also endorses the Company’s transactions with major

shareholders, directors, executives and related parties to ensure prevention of conflict of interest.



usEn Tnuisvou 910A (UKIBU) - S1evuds:=91U 2561

Fus:uUaNsauINAla:N1saoasvoua

13N ﬁmiﬁmm?:uummumﬂLL@:izuuﬁﬂH@ﬂﬂﬁqﬁ@Lﬁ@q Tnatdwne iAo udrAryatinenndwiunig
¥szuu SAP-ERP e lifuduimsldtudeyal fiunninan uenanniusmy deiluleunelunsinenaans
daandeluszuuansaum méﬁu%’u%g@ﬁﬂummﬁu wﬁm’mﬁﬂ'ﬁ?ﬁ"amﬁﬂg@shmz‘uu Intranet, N1930d4 e-mail
Lm:nw‘zﬁl@mﬂmmiﬂ?mu é’mma%mﬁagaﬁuuﬂﬂ@mﬂu@ﬂ Taadinismaunsdayanuniadulasd www.
thairayon.com waznsilatuedeyacinuszuuaasaaianannindusstlszimalng

AUSzUUNISARNL

13 fapsinmnuazUsziiunan s JiRnulunszAueetesdng dureunieganagnimustuetamsanzas

4 . ax @ aem 3 d - s = vdl
Waawsatiasreinizasuaxnely 3anslinanadudeunilinesnsl fuRndihnandnfeesdismswazgm
Nendae 1 LARnsivuakaunisfanuuaznislssiliunaiveliviladlszaunaddaniunanszyls
granaaaunelunidudassanenunssriaanznssinisasageunaznisrauaumeludnmumuiiumelnsng
waziilutlszanmnd

ANKENITUNNILTEM LARANsWszUUNIAILANN WL 3N et ead ENe wasiavuWiudnLEEmY Hesuy
nsmauANe TR Neswelazidaials LazauisnauanAM@aNngadasiunisaiugsiasulnfves
B9ANS



THAI RAYON PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2018 6;)

4. Information Technology and Communication System

The Company has continued to improve the information and communication systems. Further emphasis
is being put in maximum usage of SAP-ERP system by management team to get real-time information. The
Company also has IT security policy in place for confidentiality. Employees are communicated in time
through intranet, e-mails and meetings. Information is communicated to outside parties via the corporate

website at www.thairayon.com and the Stock Exchange of Thailand.

9. Monitoring System

The Company continues to monitor and evaluate the performance at all levels of organization. Business
procedures are properly drawn up to ensure the continuity in internal control. The procedures become
part of the normal functions of executives and relevant persons. The Company has outlined the constant
monitoring and evaluation plans to ensure achievements in specified periods. The independent internal
auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee and the internal control is reviewed on a quarterly/annual

basis.

The Board of Directors regularly review the internal control system of the Company and are of the opinion
that the Company has good internal control system, which is adequate and reliable and is sufficient to
control and mitigate the business risks associated with the running of normal business operations of the

organization.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Our Policy & Strategy

Our policy is to “To actively contribute to the social and
economic development of the communities in which
we operate. In so doing, we aim to build a better,
sustainable way of life for the weaker sections of society

and raise the country’s human development index”.

The Company is a firm believer in its core values and
recognizes that, in order to succeed in today’s
competitive business world, the Company must fulfill

its multiple responsibilities towards multiple

stakeholders.
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The Company believes that, besides producing good
financial benefits to its shareholders, it should maintain
the dynamic relationship with its stakeholders, both

local and global.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is a key component
of the Company’s business strategy. Throughout its
history of 44 years, the Company has worked diligently
in implementing programs and practices that reflect

our commitment and care.

Focus is on all-round continuous development of the
communities through sustainable economic

development around the plant locations.

Projects and Activities are planned through a
participatory need assessment of the communities
around the plants. This enables us to widen our reach
to a larger section of society. Our partners in
development are government bodies, district
authorities, leaders of villages and the end beneficiaries

‘the villagers.

Our Focus Areas

We consider ourselves an integrated part of society,
which rewards us with respectable returns on our
investment. Our knowledgeable solutions and
beneficial actions to contribute to community welfare
& development help create value for the society at
large.

The Company is actively involved with local community
in the implementation of various CSR projects that
make difference to their lives. The Company was

recognized by American Chamber of Commerce

consecutively for four years for its CSR projects.
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Our social responsibilities criteria span in following key
areas and our single-minded goal here is to deliver
superior value to our customers, shareholders,

employees and society at large. Our focus areas are:
1. Fair Operating Practice

The Company is committed to fair business practices,
as enshrined in the Company’s vision and mission
statement. The Company has published its Corporate
Governance Policy so that the Company’s directors,
executives and all employees can maintain high
standards, morals and ethics at all times which can
assist the Company to achieve its business goals, for
the benefit of all stakeholders of the Company.

2. Anti-corruption

The Company has prescribed set of guidelines to
prevent corruption. It also regularly indentifies and
monitors areas susceptible to corruption. The
guidelines prohibit receiving or taking bribes and refrain
from receiving gifts etc. All the employees of the
Company are aware of the guidelines. To prevent such
unfair practices, the Company has a policy to investigate
complaints related to fraudulent activities within the
Company by top management. Investigations involve
fact-finding and, if one is proven guilty, disciplinary
action is imposed, and issues are brought up as case

studies for all employees to heed.
3. Respect for Human Rights

The Company has a policy that it will treat employees
with dignity as human beings and with respect for their
individuality. The Company does not employ child labor.
The Company has assisted its employees to have a labor
union in order to protect employee welfare rights as
well as to help in properly managing labor related issues

in the company. The Company meets with the labor

union at regular intervals.

4. Fair Employment and Treatment

The Company believes that the Company’s success
depends on a workforce that is capable, motivated and
self—disciplined. It is, therefore, crucial to treat and
provide opportunities to all employees equally
regardless of their ethnicity, language and gender and
to maintain fair treatment of all the employees in every
process of human resource management, such as in
the recruitment or promotion of an employee
regardless of his or her ethnicity or nationality.

Employee remuneration is linked to performance.
5. Environmental Protection

Like others, Business growth alongside social
responsibility and environmental protection is a
challenge in our business also. The Company, therefore,
assesses the risks and impacts on the environment at
all levels of its operations so that it can create an
effective mechanism to monitor and meet all applicable

policies related to environment.
6. Community and Social Development

The Company actively takes part in the development
of surrounding communities and society, with a goal
to respond to the “community’s actual needs”. The
Company also involves community members in the
improvement of the community’s well-being in such
aspects as infrastructure, health, public utilities,
employment, education, and conservation of culture

and traditions.
7. Innovation

The Company realizes that innovation is an important
factor to lift the Company’s competitiveness. The

Company promotes innovation in products and process

as part of its mission.
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CSR Activities

Responsibilities to the society are one of the Company’s
top priority in all areas of business operations. The
Company frequently supports activities that contribute
positively to society, and allocates some parts of its
earnings to CSR activities, both at the local level and

the corporate level.

Under each of the category the Company takes various
initiatives and measures. Some of the key Social
Responsibility Programs being carried out by the

Company are as follows:
1. Education

1.1. Rice for lunch in 17 schools

1.2. Scholarships

1.3. Activities on National Children Day

1.4. Distributing Educational and Sports Material

1.5. English Day Camp for Secondary School Students

2. Health and family welfare
2.1. Health Check-up and Medical aid boxes
2.2. Elderly health awareness training
2.3. Disease Prevention Initiatives
2.4. Community support during natural disasters

2.5.

Support sports activities

3.
3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4,

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

6.1.

6.2.

—

i, W
R e

\a‘nﬁuﬁomn

r

Sustainability and livelihood
Support income-generating training

Support Leadership Training and Workshop for

community leaders

Improve Community relations and resolve

grievances
Infrastructure assistance
Tree planting

Improvement of facilities of District Health

Promotion Hospital

Repairing and Maintenance of Schools’ Facilities
Repairing and Maintenance of Temples’ Facilities
Social causes

Annual Red Cross Charity Fair

Factory visit for community members

Caring for disables and elderly in the community

Support community for Traffic Safety and Service
checkpoints during long holidays

Visit villagers for suggestion to improve community
life nearby factory

Religious
Merit on Buddhist Holy Day

Donations on special occasions (Kathin, Phapa)
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Environment Care

In line with our mission, the Company strictly adheres
to environmental management policies for its
operations. The Company’s operations are accredited
with 1ISO9002 since 1994 and upgraded to 1ISO9001:2008
version in November 2010. The Company has also been
accredited with 1ISO14001 since 2003 and was selected
for TPM Special Award in March 2007. Latest
technologies are being adopted in the production
processes with a view to reduce environment impact.
The Company works closely with various regulators for

continuous improvement of environment.
Safety and Environment Waste Treatment

The mission to contribute to the environment
protection has always been the Company’s priority
apart from commercial goal and good corporate
governance practices. Work safety and environment
protection are great importance to us. During the year,
the Company has organized and initiated few safety
based programs to promote and practice safe working
behavior and safe working conditions. The progress on
safety related matters are being reviewed by the top
management in safety meetings which are held
regularly. A wide range of activities and new
technologies are continuously adopted to treat the
effluent water discharge & emission of gases meeting

the norms.

Waste water: The waste water from the production
process and other sources is treated in very efficient
effluent treatment plant at primary stage followed by
secondary treatment based on activated sludge
principle. Some of the parameters are monitored on

real time basis for effective monitoring.

Rty

Air pollution: Scrubbers for treatment of spinning
exhaust have been designed for two stage scrubbing
treatment. First stage is based on absorption and
oxidation of hydrogen sulphide (H,S) where H.S is
getting converted into element sulphur. The sulphur
recovered from these scrubbers is reused in the
manufacturing process. At the second stage, outlet of
first stage is treated by caustic scrubbing of H,S and
carbon disulphide (CS,) is recovered through adsorption
process using activated carbon. After scrubbing the
gases are discharged to atmosphere through a very
high stack of 175 meter height chimney. With successful
commissioning of recent second stage H,S scrubbing
and CS, recovery projects, the emission levels of CS,
and H2S has reduced substantially and the same has
been acknowledged by community members and
various Government agencies. In addition, the
Company has taken various other steps to improve air
quality surrounding the plant to address the issue of

smell.

Solid waste: All types of solid waste generated during
production process and other activities are being
segregated and disposed off through the authorized
agencies for further treatment. Since last few years,
some portion of solid waste has been started using in
cement manufacturing process which is more

environmental friendly.

Gas emission: Sulphuric acid plants are designed on
DCDA principle with efficient demister followed with

two stages scrubbing system to control SO, emission.

o
B English day camp
v At Thal Ravon
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The policy of corporate governance of the Company is disclosed at http://www.thairayon.com/.
1. Rights of Shareholders

The Board of Directors emphasizes on shareholders’ rights and ensures equitable treatment to all as prescribed
in the Company’s rules and regulations and relevant laws. Shareholders hold the right to attend annual meeting,
the right to appoint their proxy to vote at the meetings, the right to vote on the appointment or removal of
directors, the right to cast votes in significant matters, the right to receive dividend, the right to raise opinions

and questions at the meetings and the right to have sufficient and timely information.

The Board sets the annual general meeting of shareholders (AGM) once a year which is to be held within

4 months after the end of each accounting year.

In organizing the AGM, the Board puts emphasis on the shareholders’ rights. Notice to meeting containing agenda
in details along with Board’s opinions is dispatched at least 14 days prior to the meeting date. With timely
information, shareholders can make decisions prior to the meeting date or could appoint independent directors
as their proxy. The notice of AGM is published in daily newspapers for 3 consecutive days at least 3 days ahead
of the meeting. The meeting details and agenda are also posted on the Company’s website so that shareholders

or investors can submit their questions in advance.

During the meeting, the Board facilitates shareholders’ attendance and voting and refrains from any actions

which will limit their attendance. All shareholders are given full freedom to raise their questions and opinions.

The Company’s Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for the year 2017 held on Friday, 21 July 2017 at 14.00
hrs. at New York Room, 2nd Floor, Conrad Bangkok Hotel, All Season Place, No. 87 Wireless Road, Lumpini,
Pathumwan, Bangkok 10330 which was attended by two directors.

2. Equitable Treatment of Shareholders

The Company recognizes the importance of equitable treatment to all shareholders. Shareholders’ rights are

covered in the corporate governance policy and these are treated in a fair manner through following measures:

. The process to organize AGM is transparent and efficient, in line with the Company’s rules and regulations
and relevant laws. Shareholders are given fair chance to raise opinions and questions, with sufficient time

allocation.

. Shareholders are asked to review and vote on directors on individual basis, and to approve the directors’

remuneration, auditor’s appointment, auditor fee and other agenda as described in the meeting invitation.
. Ballots are issued for all agenda.

. Shareholders-cum-executives are barred from proposing extra agenda without notifying others in advance,

so that all shareholders have sufficient time in reviewing details of each agenda.

. Shareholders who cannot attend the meeting can appoint independent directors or other persons as their
proxy, who will cast votes on behalf of them. The Company’s proxy form is designed to allow shareholders

to state their voting opinions.
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. The minutes of meeting are thoroughly recorded. The meeting minutes contain all significant information

like the resolutions and votes, questions, explanations and opinions raised.

. Measures against insider trading among directors and executives are in place. All must report their
shareholding, as well as the holdings of spouses and under-aged children. They must report on any change
in the shareholdings, after acquisition, disposal or transfer, to the Securities and Exchange Commission

under the Securities and Exchange Act BE1992’s Article 59, within 3 days after the acquisition, disposal or transfer.

. There are measures and procedure in place for considering and approving transactions with possible conflict
of interest or connected transactions, with full compliance with the Stock Exchange of Thailand’s regulations
on connected transactions, for the equitable benefits of shareholders. Moreover, the Audit Committee
also thoroughly screens connected transactions and transactions with possible conflict of interest, before

submission to the Board, as required by the SET.

3. Role of Stakeholders

The Company extends care and considerations to every group of stakeholders. To ensure sustainable growth of
the business and equitable treatment to all stakeholders, the Company has been making efforts in strengthening

cooperation with all the stakeholders. This can be summarized as follows.

Shareholders - The Company is committed to be the representative of the shareholders in
conducting business with transparency, putting in place reliable financial and
accounting systems, creating optimum satisfaction for shareholders by
considering the Company’s long-term growth and appropriate levels of

sustainable returns.

Customers - The Company is committed to deliver superior value to its customers through

excellence in quality of products and services.

Business Partners - The Company is dedicated to operate its business with integrity, transparency
and fairness. The Company values equality and common interest with its

business partners.

Creditors - The Company implements the conditions of all its loans and its other obligations

to creditors to enhance confidence and trust in the Company’s commitment.

Employees - The Company nurtures its human resources and helps them improve their
knowledge and skills. All employees are treated equally and compensated
fairly in line with their performance. The Company also cares about health

and safety of its employees and organizes many programs to promote the same.

Community and Environment - The Company places great importance on conserving natural resources and
protecting the environment. Accordingly, the Company is committed to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations including adherence with ISO
14001 standard for environment management. The Company works closely
with authorities and surrounding community in maintaining the quality of

environment.

Government Sector - The Company is committed to strictly comply with all laws and regulations

from the relevant authorities.
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4. Disclosure and Transparency

The Board puts emphasis on information disclosure and transparency, with sufficient information released to
all stakeholders and measures to ensure the disclosure of accurate, complete and credible information in a timely

manner for equal access.

The Company disseminates financial and non-financial information in compliance with related laws in a correct,
complete, timely and transparent manner via the Stock Exchange of Thailand. In addition, the Company’s
informationis disclosed in information disclosure report (form 56-1), annual report (form 56-2) and the Company’s
website. Furthermore, the Company reports on the responsibility of the Board of Directors for financial statements,

which appear together with the report of the independent auditors in the annual report.

The Company has pursued the Stock Exchange of Thailand’s rules and regulations governing connected transactions
and/or acquisition and disposal of assets. Besides, the Company has set policies and guidelines to prohibit
executives and related persons from using inside information for their own interests and disclosure of such

information to any other persons

The Company has assigned the company secretary to liaise and serve to answer inquiries from shareholders and
investors. For more information, company secretary can be contacted at Tel. 0-2253-6745-54 ext.2250 or Fax.

0-2254-3181 or e-mail address: suwanna.c@adityabirla.com and through corporate website at www.thairayon.com

9. Responsibilities of the Board
5.1 The Structure of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors consists of qualified individuals who are knowledgeable and capable in various

professions with the leadership, vision and independence in judgment.
In 2018, the Board of Directors comprises of 7 directors as follow:

- Independent directors 3 persons

- Non-executive directors 3 persons

- Executive director 1 person
The name of the directors shown in “Management Structure” on page 15
Company Secretary

The Board of Directors has appointed Mrs. Suwanna Chalermwat as the Company Secretary since 30 June
2010, whose duties and responsibilities are as per the terms of the Securities and Exchange Act. The
Company Secretary is responsible for organizing meetings for the Board of Directors and shareholders,
ensuring compliance with the meetings’ resolutions, and advising the Board on rules and regulations to
which it must comply. Additionally, the Company Secretary is responsible for preparing and keeping the
register of directors, invitation letters of the Board meeting, minutes of Board meeting, Annual Report,
invitation letters to attend the shareholders’ meeting and records of its minutes, the report on conflict of
interests of directors or executive officers and other duties as required by the Capital Market Supervisory
Board.
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5.2 Committees

Even though the Company has not set up other committees besides the Audit Committee, which must be
established in compliance with the regulations of the SET, all of the Company’s practices in other areas
such as determination of remuneration and election of directors are carried out in a careful, transparent

and honest manner.

The Audit Committee consists of 3 independent directors. The qualifications of the members meet the
requirements stipulated in the announcement of the SET regarding qualifications and scope of work of the
audit committee. The Committee is assigned to perform checks and balances on the management of various
business activities to ensure reliability and integrity and that the best interests of all stakeholders are

served.

The name, and roles and responsibilities of the Audit Committee shown in “Management Structure” on

page 19
5.3 Responsibilities of the Board

The Board consists of knowledgeable, capable, skilled and experienced persons who realize the importance
of their roles and responsibilities. The Board takes part in formulating the vision, mission, strategies, goals,

business plans and resource allocation.

The Board values good corporate governance to instill trust among shareholders, investors and all other
stakeholders. The Code of Conduct is in place for employees to perform in accordance with the corporate

governance policy.

To prevent conflicts of interest or connected transactions, the Board takes serious note of audit committees’
opinions. There are policies, code of practices and the procedure to approve transactions which might
carry conflict of interest, as guidelines to executives, employees and relevant parties. The Board also ensures
that the management regularly assesses business risks and formulates risk preventing and mitigation
measures and reports to the Board all significant issues. These also include the risks that may affect the

Company’s performance, as specified in item “Risk Factors”.
The roles and responsibilities of the Board are shown in “Management Structure” on page 15
5.4 Meeting of the Board

The Board holds quarterly meetings, aside from extra meetings as necessary, with clear and prepared
agenda, to review the quarterly results as well as monitor progress. The Group Executive President will
review the issues before bringing them up to the Board meetings. Each director is allowed to propose their

own agenda.

In each meeting, the chairman allocates sufficient and ample time for discussion. The Board’s Meeting is
convened once in every quarter and an additional meeting may be held if necessary. Each meeting will be
with clearly informed agenda both for acknowledgement and for consideration. Notice of the meeting is
delivered to directors at least 7 days prior to the meeting except in the event of an emergency to protect
therights or benefits of the Company. An agenda is set for each meeting and adequate supporting documents
are distributed sufficiently in advance to allow directors adequate time for a thorough review. At the
meeting, each director is entitled to freely discuss and comment on matters. The minutes of the meeting
are prepared, approved by the Board and filed at the Company Secretary Office for future reference and

verification by directors and related person.
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In 2018, the Board of Directors’ meeting held 4 times (details appeared in “Management Structure” on

page 17)
5.5 Assessment of Board’s Performance

The Company’s Board of Directors has not yet set up a system for assessing the Board member’s performance.
5.6 Remuneration

It is the Company’s policy to compensate directors and management at reasonable levels to motivate and
retain quality directors and management at levels comparable to industrial practices to ensure their
continuity in service. Board’s remuneration is reported to the Board and is approved at the shareholders’

meeting.

Details of remuneration to directors and management in 2018 are shown in “Management Structure” on

page 27
5.7 Continuing Education of Directors and Management

The Company promotes and facilitates training and the continuing education of those who are associated
with the corporate governance system such as directors, audit committee members, management and
company secretary. This enables continuous improvement to work performance. In addition, every new
appointee receives introduction documents and materials beneficial to performing the new duties. An
introduction session is also organized to introduce new directors to the Company’s business, strategies and

plans.

Two of the Company’s directors have attended Directors Certification Program which is organized by Thai
Institution of Directors (I0D).

Surveillance on use of inside information

The Company has a policy to prohibit directors and management from directly and indirectly using inside
information for their own benefits. The various measures to prevent the unlawful use of inside information by

the Board of Directors, management and employees of the Company are as follows:

- Ensures that directors and management timely report any changes in their holdings of the company’s
securities to the SEC under Section 59 of the Securities and Exchange Act B.E.2535.

- Prohibits management or related persons to disclose and/or share inside information to outside persons.

- Advises avoiding trading of the Company’s securities by directors, management and staff during one month

before the financial statements are disclosed to the public.

- The Company has a proper system to ensure that important information are shared with only responsible

persons of the Company to ensure avoidance of improper use of such information,

During the year, the Board and management adhered to the above measures strictly. In addition, the Company
ensures that all employees acknowledge and agree to not to disclose confidential information of the company

to their own benefits to outside persons.

The Company has policy of disciplinary action for the Company’s staff that violates the Company’s rules and

regulations or announcement as stated in rules and regulations governing staff’s operating practices.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS'
RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors is responsible for the audited financial statements of Thai Rayon Public Company Limited

and the financial information shown in the Annual Report.

The audited financial statements are prepared according to Thai Financial Reporting Standards, based on
appropriate accounting policies and careful judgment, including the disclosure of sufficient information in notes

to financial statements.

The Board of Directors maintains sufficient internal controls to ensure that the recording of financial data is

complete and sufficient to maintain asset value and prevent fraud.

Along with this, the Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee comprising members who are not
from management to verify the financial reports and internal control systems. This subject is further confirmed

by the Audit Committee’s Report in the Annual Report.

The Board of Directors is satisfied with the Company’s internal control system and the accuracy of audited
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2018.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

M

———

Mr. Shyam Sundar Mahansaria

Independent Director
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of three independent directors, namely Mr. Shyam Sundar Mahansaria as Chairman
of the Audit Committee, Mr. Vinai Sachdev and Mr. Prabhu Narain Mathur as member of the Audit Committee
who are the expert in finance and accounting, legal affair, economy and administration. The Chairman of the

Audit Committee does not serve on any other committees.

During the year 2018, the Audit Committee performed their duties independently and held 4 meetings with

management which can be summarized as follows:

1. Reviewed the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 with the
management and auditors. The Audit Committee concludes that the Company’s audited financial statements
are accurate, complete, reliable and adequately disclosed information in accordance with Thai Financial

Reporting Standards.

2.  Reviewed the Company’s internal control system in compliance with guidelines by the Securities and
Exchange Commission which covers the Company’s management, finance, legal practices as well as reviewing
the risk management approach and follow up on the progress of the risk management. The Audit Committee

indicated that the Company has sufficient and effective internal control and risk management system.

3. Reviewed the information disclosure of inter-company transactions with related companies and connected
transactions or those which may raise the conflict of interest. The Audit Committee indicated that the

consideration and the practice were performed in compliance with the laws and regulations of the SEC and SET.

4. Reviewed legal practice relating to the Company’s business. The Audit Committee indicated that the

Company complied with rules and regulations of the SEC, SET and other laws related to its business.

5. Reviewedtheinternal audit report and noted the management’s action plans based on report’s suggestions.
The Audit Committee concludes that the report covered core business functions and it was conducted

independently in compliance with professional standards.

6. Reviewed the accounting plan, the operating results and the independence of the auditors, and advise the
Board of Directors to approve the appointment of auditors (1) Mr. Khitsada Lerdwana, CPA Registration
No. 4958 or (2) Mrs. Poonnard Paocharoen, CPA Registration No. 5238 or (3) Ms. Kosum Cha-em, CPA
Registration No. 6011 of EY Office Limited to be the external auditors of the Company and fixed their
remuneration for the year 2019 of Baht 1,550,000.- (Year 2018: Baht 1,250,000.-) plus out of pocket expenses.
The appointment and remuneration of external auditors have been proposed to the Board of Directors for

approval in the Shareholders’ Meeting.

The Audit Committee indicated that the Company constructed its financial statements with sufficient information
disclosure in compliance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards and had an effective risk management system

and internal control in accordance with good corporate governance.

For and on behalf of the Audit Committee

=

.

Shyam Sundar Mahansaria
Chairman of the Audit Committee
24 May 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL STATUS

1. Production

VSF production for the year ended 31 March 2018 was 138,800 Tons, 12% higher as compared to the same
period of last year. The Anhydrous Sodium Sulphate production was 105,597 Tons, 8% higher as compared
to the same period of last year. Last year’s production was lower due to production cuts implemented as

par terms of MOU with provincial authority.

2. Sales Revenue

The sales revenue for the year ended 31 March 2018 was Baht 10,032 Million as compared to Baht 9,080
Million of last year, higher by 10% or Baht 952 Million mainly due to higher sales volume. VSF Sales volume
in export market increased by 20% whereas volume in domestic market decreased by 25% compared to
the same period of last year. The sales volume of by-product Sodium Sulphate was at 105,729 Tons, 8%

higher as compared to 97,896 tons in last year.

3. Equity Income

The share of income from investment in associated companies under equity method amounted to Baht
1,383 Million compared to Baht 1,435 Million of last year, decreased by 4% or Baht 52 Million due to lower

profits of some of the associated companies.

4. OQOther Income

. Gain on exchange increased by 93% or Baht 82 Million. The Company follows consistent policy of

internal hedging.

. Dividend income decreased by 32% or Baht 3.3 Million due to decrease in dividend income from

investee companies.

. Other income increased by 26% or Baht 13 Million mainly due to higher interest income on bank

deposit from higher cash profit.

5. Cost and Expenses

. Cost of sales increased by 16% or Baht 1,219 Million mainly due to higher sales volume and higher

input rates of some key raw materials.

. Selling expenses increased by 38% or Baht 105 Million due to higher sales volume and higher export

freights.

. Administrative expenses increased by 32% or Baht 59 Million mainly due to expenses relating to

environment, CSR and legal.

. Loss from return of investment in associate which reduced its capital decreased by 100% or Baht 103

Million due to loss from an associate in last year.
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. Finance cost decreased by 47% or Baht 3.1 Million due to lower borrowings.
. Income tax expenses decreased by 50% or Baht 88 Million due to lower taxable profit profits.

. The Company paid Baht 1,409,447 as audit fees to the Company’s auditors for the year 2018 (year
2017: Baht 1,298,694), including out of pocket expenses.

6. Profits

The Company has recorded net profit for the year ended 31 March 2018 of Baht 2,128 Million compared
to Baht 2,325 Million of last year, a decrease of Baht 197 Million or 9% mainly due to higher cost of

production, lower realisation and lower income from associates.

7. Financial Position
Assets

The total assets as at 31 March 2018 amounted to Baht 25,093 Million, increased by 7% or Baht 1,543

Million compared to last year. Details of major assets are as follows:
. Cash and cash equivalents increased by 279% or Baht 615 Million due to cash flow from operations.
. Current investment increased by 13% or Baht 241 Million due to cash flow from operations.

. Trade and other receivables increased by 20% or Baht 226 Million due to higher export sales volume

during last quarter of the financial year.

. Current portion of long-term loan to related party decreased by 100% or Baht 115 Million due to

repayment of loan received during the year.

. Inventories decreased by 25% or Baht 483 Million due to reduction in finished goods and some raw

material.

. Asset held for sale increased by 100% or Baht 110 Million due to investment in one of the associated

company is regrouped from investment in associates.
. Other current assets increased by 52% or Baht 51 Million mainly due to increase in VAT receivable.

. Advance payment for long-term investment decreased by 100% or Baht 12 Million due to investment

in one of the associate company regrouped to asset held for sale.

. Deferred tax assets increased by 264% or Baht 79 Million due to utilization of impairment loss on

investment in one of the associated company in deferred tax.
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Liabilities
The total liabilities as of 31 March 2018 amounted to Baht 1,903 Million, decreased by 12% or Baht 268

Million compared to last year. Details of major liabilities are as follows:

. Short term loans from financial institutions decreased by 100% or Baht 443 Million due to reduction

in working capital loans.
. Income tax payable increased by 100% or Baht 93 Million due to taxable profit during the period.
. Other current liabilities decreased by 47% or Baht 34 Million mainly due to decrease in other payables.

. Other components of shareholders’ equity decreased by 41% or Baht 105 Million mainly due to effect
of change in value of securities available for sale and effect of translation adjustment on financial

statements of associate companies.
Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity as of 31 March 2018 amounted to Baht 23,190 Million, increased by 8% or Baht 1,810

Million compared to last year mainly due to higher net profits during the year.

8. Analysis of Financial Ratios
Liquidity Ratios

The Company’s current ratio was higher at 4.40 times from 3.29 times of last year. The current assets

increased by 12% whereas the current liabilities decreased by 16%.
Debt to Equity Ratios

The Company has generally maintained very low debt to equity ratio. The ratio of total liabilities to

shareholders’ fund stands decreased to 0.08:1 compared to 0.10:1 of last year due to reduction in borrowings.
Activity Ratios

The assets turnover ratio was at 0.42 times compared to 0.41 times of last year. Average total assets

increased by 7%. The inventory turnover ratio was 5.24 times compared to 4.15 times of last year.
Profitability Ratios

Net profits margin on total revenues works out to 20.71% compared to 25.20% of last year mainly due to
lower realization, higher cost of production and lower profitability of some of the associated companies.
The return on average shareholders’ equity, based on net profit after tax, decreased to 9.55% compared

to 11.50% of last year mainly due to lower profit and lower equity income from associates.
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Financial Ratios

The following table provides the key financial ratios for the year ended 31 March 2018 and along with last two years:

For the year ended 31 March

FINANCIAL RATIO 2018 2017 2016
LIQUIDITY RATIO

Current Ratio (times) 4.40 3.29 2.19
Quick Ratio (times) 3.35 2.12 1.23
Cash Flow Ratio (times) 1.03 1.23 0.31
Receivable Turnover Ratio (times) 8.19 7.61 8.42
Days in Accounts Receivable (days) 44 47 43
Inventory Turnover Ratio (times) 5.24 4.15 5.20
Days in Inventory (days) 69 87 69
Payable Turnover Ratio (Times) 7 8 11
Days in Accounts Payable (days) 49 47 33
Cash Cycle (days) 64 87 79
PROFITABILITY RATIO

Gross Profit Margin Ratio (%) 12.21 16.44 11.33
Operating Profit Margin Ratio (%) 7.65 11.17 6.45
Non-Operating Profit Margin Ratio (%) 14.11 16.13 9.88
Cash to Profitability Ratio (%) 203.47 208.97 121.53
Net Profit Margin Ratio (%) (Consolidated) 20.71 25.20 14.91
Return on Equity Ratio (%) 9.55 11.50 7.61
EFFICIENCY RATIO

Return on Assets Ratio (%) 8.75 10.38 6.61
Return on Fixed Assets Ratio (%) 78.10 80.99 53.15
Assets Turnover Ratio (times) 0.42 0.41 0.44
FINANCIAL POLICY RATIO

Debt to Equity Ratio (times) 0.08 0.10 0.12
Interest Coverage Ratio (times) 473.37 321.31 22.25
Dividend Payout Ratio (%) 28 20 30
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Thai Rayon Public Company Limited

Opinion

I have audited the accompanying financial statements in which the equity method is applied of Thai Rayon Public
Company Limited (the Company), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, and
the related statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies,

and have also audited the separate financial statements of Thai Rayon Public Company Limited for the same

period.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Thai Rayon Public Company Limited as at 31 March 2018, its financial performance and cash flows

for the year then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards.
Basis for Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing. My responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my
report. | am independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
as issued by the Federation of Accounting Professions as relevant to my audit of the financial statements, and |
have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. | believe that the audit evidence |

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
Key Audit Matter

Key audit matter is that matter that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance in my audit of the
financial statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of my audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and | do not provide a separate opinion on this
matter.

I have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of my report, including in relation to this matter. Accordingly, my audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to my assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of my audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the

matter below, provide the basis for my audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements as a whole.
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Key audit matter and how audit procedures respond for this matter are described below.
Revenue recognition

The Company’s revenue is the most significant transactions in the statement of income. The Company has sales
transactions with a large number of customers under a variety of commercial terms and they are mostly in
exports. There are therefore risks of revenue being recognised at an inappropriate amount or earlier than

appropriate.
| have examined the revenue recognition of the Company by:

o Assessing and testing the Company’s internal controls with respect to the revenue cycle by making enquiry
of responsible executives, gaining an understanding of the controls and selecting representative samples
to test the operation of the designed controls, with special consideration given to expanding the scope of

the testing of the internal controls which respond to the above risks.

o On a sampling basis, examining supporting documents for actual sales transactions occurred during the

year and near the end of the accounting period.
o Reviewing credit notes that the Company issued after the period-end.

o Performing analytical procedures on disaggregated data to detect possible irregularities in sales transactions

throughout the period, particularly for accounting entries made through journal vouchers.
Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the information included
in annual report of the Company, but does not include the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon.

The annual report of the Company is expected to be made available to me after the date of this auditor’s report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and | do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or

my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When | read the annual report of the Company, if | conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, | am

required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance for correction of the misstatement.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with Thai Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no

realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing, | exercise professional judgement and maintain

professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

of the Company’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by management.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, | am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events

or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that |
identify during my audit.

| also provide those charged with governance with a statement that | have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, | determine the matter that was of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and is therefore the key audit matter.
| describe this matter in my auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, | determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

I am responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report.

At L

Khitsada Lerdwana

Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 4958
EY Office Limited

Bangkok: 24 May 2018
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2018

(Unit: Baht)

Financial statements in which
the equity method is applied

Separate

financial statements

Note 2018 2017 2018 2017
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 834,832,968 220,271,175 834,832,968 220,271,175
Current investments-bills of exchange 2,123,282,400 1,882,050,000 2,123,282,400 1,882,050,000
Trade and other receivables 8 1,337,891,271 1,111,391,917 1,337,891,271 1,111,391,917
Short-term loan to related party 6 69,695,550 76,961,250 69,695,550 76,961,250
Current portion of long-term loan
to related party 6 - 114,800,400 - 114,800,400
Inventories 9 1,440,597,747 1,923,393,456 1,440,597,747 1,923,393,456
Asset held for sale 10 109,801,142 - 128,911,949 -
Other current assets 147,852,597 96,964,639 147,852,597 96,964,639
Total current assets 6,063,953,675 5,425,832,837 6,083,064,482 5,425,832,837
Non-current assets
Investment in joint venture 11 - - 1,288,623,993 1,288,623,993
Investments in associates 12 13,303,822,601 12,264,354,731 4,630,574,304 4,790,441,004
Advance payment for long-term investment 12 - 12,142,950 - 12,142,950
Other long-term investments 13 2,502,112,817 2,530,604,899 2,502,112,817 2,530,604,899
Property, plant and equipment 14 3,112,453,896 3,285,156,685 3,112,453,896 3,285,156,685
Deferred tax assets 20 108,364,704 29,739,178 106,971,133 29,739,178
Other non-current assets 2,400,057 2,495,557 2,400,057 2,495,557

Total non-current assets

19,029,154,075

18,124,494,000

11,643,136,200

11,939,204,266

Total assets

25,093,107,750

23,550,326,837

17,726,200,682

17,365,037,103

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
As at 31 March 2018

(Unit: Baht)

Financial statements in which
the equity method is applied

Separate

financial statements

Note 2018 2017 2018 2017
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Short-term loans from financial institutions 15 - 443,394,447 - 443,394,447
Trade and other payables 16 1,248,016,082  1,135,887,224  1,248,016,082  1,135,887,224
Income tax payable 92,980,920 - 92,980,920 -
Other current liabilities 37,862,922 71,722,429 37,862,922 71,722,429
Total current liabilities 1,378,859,924 1,651,004,100 1,378,859,924 1,651,004,100
Non-current liabilities
Provision for long-term employee benefits 17 152,822,687 145,880,716 152,822,687 145,880,716
Deferred tax liabilities 20 371,753,028 374,069,810 371,753,028 374,069,810
Total non-current liabilities 524,575,715 519,950,526 524,575,715 519,950,526

Total liabilities

1,903,435,639

2,170,954,626

1,903,435,639

2,170,954,626

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital

Registered
201,600,000 ordinary shares of Baht 1 each 201,600,000 201,600,000 201,600,000 201,600,000
Issued and fully paid
201,600,000 ordinary shares of Baht 1 each 201,600,000 201,600,000 201,600,000 201,600,000
Retained earnings
Appropriated
Statutory reserve 18 20,160,000 20,160,000 20,160,000 20,160,000
General reserve 2,500,000,000 2,500,000,000 2,500,000,000 2,500,000,000

Unappropriated

Other components of shareholders’ equity

20,313,830,077

154,082,034

18,398,556,292

259,055,919

11,952,845,898

1,148,159,145

11,338,546,772

1,133,775,705

Total shareholders’ equity

23,189,672,111

21,379,372,211

15,822,765,043

15,194,082,477

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

25,093,107,750

23,550,326,837

17,726,200,682

17,365,037,103

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March 2018

(Unit: Baht)

Financial statements in which

the equity method is applied

Separate

financial statements

Note 2018 2017 2018 2017
Revenues
Sales 21 10,031,859,945 9,080,184,050 10,031,859,945 9,080,184,050
Gains on exchange 169,635,422 87,966,768 169,635,422 87,966,768
Dividend income 12,13 7,234,904 10,574,911 132,363,967 154,045,762
Other income 62,566,677 49,542,757 62,566,677 49,542,757
Total revenues 10,271,296,948 9,228,268,486 10,396,426,011 9,371,739,337
Expenses
Cost of sales 8,807,169,765 7,587,770,368 8,807,169,765 7,587,770,368
Selling expenses 385,815,991 280,501,834 385,815,991 280,501,834
Administrative expenses 241,043,040 182,064,399 241,043,040 182,064,399
Impairment loss on investment - - 43,097,701 -
Loss from return of investment in the associate
which reduced capital 12 - 103,189,819 - 103,189,819
Total expenses 9,434,028,796 8,153,526,420 9,477,126,497 8,153,526,420
Profit before share of profit from investments in
associates, finance cost and income tax expenses 837,268,152 1,074,742,066 919,299,514 1,218,212,917
Share of profit from investments in associates 12 1,382,882,901 1,434,701,259 - -
Profit before finance cost and income tax expenses 2,220,151,053 2,509,443,325 919,299,514 1,218,212,917
Finance cost (3,476,707) (6,619,606) (3,476,707)  (6,619,606)
Profit before income tax expenses 2,216,674,346  2,502,823,719 915,822,807 1,211,593,311
Income tax expenses 20 (89,122,668) (177,518,473) (90,516,239) (177,518,473)
Profit for the year 2,127,551,678 2,325,305,246 825,306,568 1,034,074,838
Basic earnings per share 22
Profit for the year (Baht per share) 10.55 11.53 4.09 5.13
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (shares) 201,600,000 201,600,000 201,600,000 201,600,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 March 2018

(Unit: Baht)

Financial statements in which

the equity method is applied

Separate

financial statements

Note 2018 2017 2018 2017
Profit for the year 2,127,551,678 2,325,305,246 825,306,568 1,034,074,838
Other comprehensive income:
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements in foreign currency (78,073,910) (260,255,130) - -
Cumulative amount of the exchange differences
on translation of financial statements
in foreign currency of the associate on sale (41,283,415) - - -
Cumulative amount of differences on translation
of financial statements in foreign currency
of the associate which reduced capital 12 - 103,189,819 - -
Gains on changeinvalue of available-for-sale investments 17,980,160 393,949,067 17,980,160 393,949,067
Less: Income tax effect 20 (3,596,720) (78,789,813)  (3,596,720) (78,789,813)
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods-net of income tax (104,973,885) 158,093,943 14,383,440 315,159,254
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods
Actuarial losses 17 (1,588,924) (22,257,229) - (22,257,229)
Less: Income tax effect 20 318,473 4,451,446 - 4,451,446
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods - net of income tax (1,270,451) (17,805,783) - (17,805,783)
Other comprehensive income for the year (106,244,336) 140,288,160 14,383,440 297,353,471
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,021,307,342 2,465,593,406 839,690,008 1,331,428,309

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March 2018

(Unit: Baht)

Financial statements

in which the equity method is applied

Separate

financial statements

2018

2017

2018

2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to

net cash provided by (paid from) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortisation 370,675,701
Share of profit from investments in associates (1,382,882,901)

Loss from return of investment in the associate

2,216,674,346

which reduced capital
Impairment loss on investment
Losses on sales of equipment

Unrealised gains on exchange

Increase in provision for long-term employee benefits

Dividend income
Interest income

Interest expenses

1,270,312
(49,474)
16,694,572
(7,234,904)
(50,591,640)
3,476,707

2,502,823,719

391,000,247
(1,434,701,259)

103,189,819
2,948,924
(10,863,520)
17,554,967
(10,574,911)
(40,442,968)
6,619,606

915,822,807

370,675,701

43,097,701
1,270,312
(49,474)
16,694,572
(132,363,967)
(50,591,640)
3,476,707

1,211,593,311

391,000,247

103,189,819
2,948,924
(10,863,520)
17,554,967
(154,045,762)
(40,442,968)
6,619,606

Profit from operating activities before changes

in operating assets and liabilities
Operating assets (increase) decrease
Trade and other receivables
Inventories

Other current assets

Other non-current assets

Operating liabilities increase (decrease)
Trade and other payables

Other current liabilities

Payment of long-term employee benefits

1,168,032,719

(234,780,829)
482,795,709
(44,931,166)

95,500

118,761,453
(19,587,040)
(9,752,601)

1,527,554,624

167,088,406
(188,241,022)
68,698,611
319,206

367,292,648
25,315,410
(15,066,745)

1,168,032,719

(234,780,829)
482,795,709
(44,931,166)

95,500

118,761,453
(19,587,040)
(9,752,601)

1,527,554,624

167,088,406
(188,241,022)
68,698,611
319,206

367,292,648
25,315,410
(15,066,745)

Cash from operating activities

Cash received from dividend income
Cash received from interest income
Cash paid for interest expenses

Cash paid for corporate income tax

1,460,633,745
132,363,967
52,761,145
(3,476,707)
(80,680,776)

1,952,961,138
154,045,762
34,222,323
(6,619,606)
(14,303,095)

1,460,633,745
132,363,967
52,761,145
(3,476,707)
(80,680,776)

1,952,961,138
154,045,762
34,222,323
(6,619,606)
(14,303,095)

Net cash from operating activities

1,561,601,374

2,120,306,522

1,561,601,374

2,120,306,522

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2018

(Unit: Baht)

Financial statements

in which the equity method is applied

Separate

financial statements

2018 2017 2018 2017
Cash flows from investing activities
Increase in current investments (241,232,400) (1,712,050,000) (241,232,400) (1,712,050,000)
Cash received from repayment of long-term loans from
related parties 114,800,400 537,280,000 114,800,400 537,280,000
Cash paid for investment in the associate - (2,110,200) - (2,110,200)
Cash received from return of investment in the associate
which reduced capital - 224,258,459 - 224,258,459
Increase in other long-term investment (3,527,758) - (3,527,758) -
Cash received from sales of other long-term investment 50,000,000 - 50,000,000 -
Cash paid in advance for long-term investment - (12,142,950) - (12,142,950)
Proceeds from sales of equipment 3,530,140 434,620 3,530,140 434,620

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment

(202,773,364)

(339,888,860)

(202,773,364)

(339,888,860)

Net cash used in investing activities (279,202,982) (1,304,218,931) (279,202,982) (1,304,218,931)
Cash flows from financing activities

Decrease in short-term loans from financial institutions (443,394,447) (474,017,419) (443,394,447) (474,017,419)
Dividend payment (224,442,152) (127,236,659)  (224,442,152) (127,236,659)
Net cash used in financing activities (667,836,599) (601,254,078) (667,836,599) (601,254,078)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 614,561,793 214,833,513 614,561,793 214,833,513
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 220,271,175 5,437,662 220,271,175 5,437,662
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 834,832,968 220,271,175 834,832,968 220,271,175

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2018

1.

General information

Thai Rayon Public Company Limited (“the Company”) is a public company incorporated and domiciled in Thailand.

The Company is principally engaged in the manufacturing of viscose rayon staple fibre and anhydrous sodium

sulphate for sales to both domestic and export markets. The registered addresses of the Company’s head office

and factories are as follows:

Head office : 888/160-1 Mahatun Plaza Building, 16" Floor, Ploenchit Road, Lumpini, Patumwan, Bangkok.

Factory 1 : 36 Moo 2 Ayuthaya-Angthong Highway, Posa, Muang, Angthong.

Factory 2 : 19 Moo 7 Nhongplakadee Road, Nhongplamho, Nhongkhae, Saraburi.

2.1

2.2

2.3

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards
enunciated under the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation has been made in
compliance with the stipulations of the Notification of the Department of Business Development dated 11
October 2016, issued under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543.

The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of the Company.
The financial statements in English language have been translated from the Thai language financial
statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where otherwise disclosed
in the accounting policies.

The separate financial statements present investments in joint venture and associates under the cost
method.

The Company holds a 60 percent interest in AV Terrace Bay Inc. Management has considered whether the
Company controls AV Terrace Bay Inc. and concluded that the Company has only joint control. The Company
therefore classifies the investment in AV Terrace Bay Inc. as investment in a joint venture and accounts for
it under the equity method in the financial statements in which the equity method is applied, and does

not prepare consolidated financial statements.
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(a)

(b)

4.2

4.3

New financial reporting standards
Financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year

During the year, the Company has adopted the revised financial reporting standards and interpretations
(revised 2016) and new accounting treatment guidance which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or
after 1 January 2017. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding
International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards revision of wording
and terminology, and provision of interpretations and accounting guidance to users of standards. The
adoption of these financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on the Company’s

financial statements.
Financial reporting standards that will become effective in the future

During the current year, the Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of the revised financial
reporting standards and interpretations (revised 2017) which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or
after 1 January 2018. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding
International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes and clarifications directed towards

disclosures in the notes to financial statements.

The management of the Company believe that the revised financial reporting standards will not have any

significant impact on the financial statements when they are initially applied.

Significant accounting policies
Revenue recognition
Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed
to the buyer. Sales are the invoiced value, excluding value added tax, of goods supplied after deducting

discounts and allowances.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis based on the effective interest rate.
Dividends

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive the dividends is established.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and at banks, and all highly liquid investments with an

original maturity of three months or less and not subject to withdrawal restrictions.
Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable are stated at the net realisable value. Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided
for the estimated losses that may be incurred in collection of receivables. The allowance is generally based

on collection experiences and analysis of debt aging.
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4.4 Inventories

Finished goods and work in process are valued at the lower of cost under the average method and net

realisable value. Cost includes all production costs and attributable factory overheads.

Raw materials, spare parts and factory supplies are valued at the lower of cost under the average method

and net realisable value and are charged to production costs whenever consumed.
4.5 Asset held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when their recoverable amount is derived from the sale,
rather than from use, of the assets. The assets must be available for immediate distribution and the
distribution must be highly probable. The value of assets held for sale is measured at the lower of their

carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
4.6 Investments

a) Investments in available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value. Changes in the fair value of these
securities are recorded in other comprehensive income, and will be recorded in profit or loss when

the securities are sold.

b) Investments in debt securities, both due within one year and expected to be held to maturity, are
recorded at amortised cost. The premium/discount on debt securities is amortised/accreted by the
effective rate method with the amortised/accreted amount presented as an adjustment to the interest

income.

c¢) Investmentsin non-marketable equity securities, which the Company classifies as other investments,

are stated at cost net of allowance for impairment loss (if any).

d) Investments in joint venture and associates are accounted for in the financial statements in which

the equity method is applied using the equity method.

e) Investments in joint venture and associates are accounted for in the separate financial statements

using the cost method.
The fair value of marketable securities is based on the latest bid price of the last working day of the year.
The weighted average method is used for computation of the cost of investments.

In the event the Company reclassifies investments from one type to another, such investments will be
readjusted to their fair value as at the reclassification date. The difference between the carrying amount
of the investments and the fair value on the date of reclassification are recorded in profit or loss or recorded

as other components of shareholders’ equity, depending on the type of investment that is reclassified.
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4.7 Property, plant and equipment/Depreciation

Land is stated at cost. Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and allowance

for loss on impairment of assets (if any).

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-line basis over

the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings and improvements - 10 and 20 years
Machinery and equipment - 3-35years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment - 3 and 5 years
Computer equipment - 3 years
Motor vehicles - 5 years

Depreciation is included in determining income.
No depreciation is provided on land and assets under construction and installation.
4.8 Intangible assets and amortisation

Intangible assets (computer software) are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated

impairment losses (if any). They are amortised over a period of three years.
The amortisation expense is charged to profit or loss.
4.9 Related party transactions

Related parties comprise individuals or enterprises that control, or are controlled by, the Company, whether

directly or indirectly, or which are under common control with the Company.

They also include associates companies, and individuals or enterprises which directly or indirectly own a
voting interest in the Company that gives them significant influence over the Company, key management

personnel, directors and officers with authority in the planning and direction of the Company’s operations.
4.10 Long-term leases

Leases of building which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight

line basis over the lease term.
4.11 Foreign currencies

The financial statement in which the equity method is applied and separate financial statements are

presented in Baht, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at

the exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting period.

Gains and losses on exchange are included in determining income.
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4.12Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Company performs impairment reviews in respect of the property,
plant and equipment and other intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that an asset may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognised when the recoverable amount of an asset,
which is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, is less than the carrying
amount. In determining value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is
used. These calculations are corroborated by a valuation model that, based on information available, reflects
the amount that the Company could obtain from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s length transaction

between knowledgeable, willing parties, after deducting the costs of disposal.
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

In the assessment of asset impairment if there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased, the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount.
A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The
increased carrying amount of the asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss shall not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal, which exceeds the carrying amount that would have been determined,

is treated as a revaluation increase.
4. 13 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social security fund are recognised as expenses when
incurred.

Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Company and its employees have jointly established a provident fund. The fund is monthly contributed
by employees and by the Company. The fund’s assets are held in a separate trust fund and the Company’s

contributions are recognised as expenses when incurred.
Defined benefit plans

The Company has obligations in respect of the severance payments it must make to employees upon
retirement under labor law. The Company treats these severance payment obligations as a defined benefit
plan.

The obligation under the defined benefit plans is determined by a professionally qualified independent

actuary based on actuarial techniques, using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans are recognised immediately in other

comprehensive income.
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4.14Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

4.15Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of corporate income tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax

Currentincome tax is provided in the accounts at the amount expected to be paid to the taxation authorities,

based on taxable profits determined in accordance with tax legislation.
Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts at the end of each reporting period, using the tax rates enacted at the end of

the reporting period.

The Company recognises deferred tax liabilities for all taxable temporary differences while they recognise
deferred tax assets for all deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which such deductible temporary

differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilised.

At each reporting date, the Company reviews and reduces the carrying amount of deferred tax assets to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of

the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

The Company records deferred tax directly to shareholders’ equity if the tax relates to items that are

recorded directly to shareholders’ equity.
416 Derivatives
Forward exchange contracts

Receivables and payables arising from forward exchange contracts are translated into Baht at the rates of
exchange ruling at the end of reporting period. Unrecognised gains and losses from the translation are
included in determining income. Premiums or discounts on forward exchange contracts are amortised on

a straight-line basis over the contract periods.
4.17 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between buyer and seller (market participants) at the measurement date. The Company applies
a quoted market price in an active market to measure their assets and liabilities that are required to be
measured at fair value by relevant financial reporting standards. Except in case of no active market of an
identical asset or liability or when a quoted market price is not available, the Company measures fair value
using valuation technique that are appropriate in the circumstances and maximises the use of relevant

observable inputs related to assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy into three levels based on categorise of input to be used in fair

value measurement as follows:

Level 1 - Use of quoted market prices in an active market for such assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Use of other observable inputs for such assets or liabilities, whether directly or indirectly
Level 3 - Use of unobservable inputs such as estimates of future cash flows

At the end of each reporting period, the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels within the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting period that

are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

5. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financial reporting standard at times requires
management to make subjective judgements and estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain.
These judgements and estimates affect reported amounts and disclosures; and actual results could differ

from these estimates. Significant judgements and estimates are as follows:
Impairment of long-term investments

The Company treats long-term investments as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value below their cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The

determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement of the management.
Property plant and equipment/Depreciation

In determining depreciation of plant and equipment, the management is required to make estimates of
the useful lives and residual values of the plant and equipment and to review estimate useful lives and

residual values when there are any changes.

In addition, the management is required to review property, plant and equipment for impairment on a
periodical basis and record impairment losses when it is determined that their recoverable amount is lower

than the carrying amount.
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences and losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax

assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of estimate future taxable profits.
Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined based on actuarial techniques. Such
determination is made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future salary increase rate,

mortality rate and staff turnover rate.
Litigation
The Company has contingent liabilities as a result of litigation. The Company’s management has used

judgement to assess of the results of the litigation and has recorded the provision for litigation costs with

reasonable loss estimated as at the end of reporting period.
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6. Related party transactions

During the years, the Company had significant business transactions with related parties. Such transactions,

which are summarised below, arose in the ordinary course of business and were concluded on commercial

terms and bases agreed upon between the Company and those related parties.

(Unit: Million Baht)

Financial statements in which
the equity method is applied/
Separate financial statements

2018 2017 Pricing policy
Transactions with joint venture
Interest income 2 2 6-months LIBOR plus 1 percent
per annum
Transactions with associates
Sales of goods 627 331 With reference to market prices
Dividend income 125 143 By resolution of the meeting of
shareholders
Interest income - 8 2.25 percent per annum
Other income 6 7 By mutual agreement
Purchases of materials 385 312 With reference to market prices
Other expenses 21 26 By mutual agreement
Transactions with related companies
Sales of goods 776 1,056 With reference to market prices
Dividend income 7 11 By resolution of the meeting of
shareholders
Interest income 4 7 6 percent per annum
Other income 1 - By mutual agreement
Purchases of materials 2,020 1,908 With reference to market prices
Other expenses 1 1 By mutual agreement
Transactions with directors
Pension and other expenses 3 3 By mutual agreement
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The balances of the accounts as at 31 March 2018 and 2017 between the Company and those related parties

are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial statements in which
the equity method is applied/
Separate financial statements

2018 2017

Trade and other receivables - related parties (Note 8)

Associates 78,054 43,642
Related companies (related by common directors or shareholders) 188,139 230,676
Total trade and other receivables - related parties 266,193 274,318
Trade and other payables - related parties (Note 16)

Associates 57,375 54,658
Related companies (related by common directors or shareholders) 319,896 288,534
Total trade and other payables - related parties 377,271 343,192

Short-term loan to related party

As at 31 March 2018, the balances of short-term loan between the Company and the related party and the

movement are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial statements in which the equity method is applied/
Separate financial statements

Balance Balance
as at Increase Decrease Unrealised as at
1 April during during losses on 31 March
Short-term loan to | Related by 2017 the year the year exchange 2018
AV Terrace Bay Inc.  Joint venture 76,961 - - (7,265) 69,696
Total 76,961 - - (7,265) 69,696

The short-term loan to AV Terrace Bay Inc. represent US dollar loan amounting to USD 2.25 Mllion. The loan is

unsecured, carries interest at the rate of 6-months LIBOR plus 1 percent per annum and is repayable in February

2019.
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Long-term loan to related parties

As at 31 March 2018, the balances of long-term loan between the Company and the related party and the
movement are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial statements in which the equity method is applied/

Separate financial statements

Balance Balance
as at Increase Decrease Unrealised as at
Long-term loans 1 April during during losses on 31 March
to Related by 2017 the year the year exchange 2018
Common
AV Group NB Inc. directors 114,800 - (114,800) - -
Total 114,800 - (114,800) - -
Less: Current portion (114,800) -

Net of current portion - .

The long-term loan to AV Group NB Inc. represents a Canadian dollar loan of CAD 4.5 Million, bearing interest
at a rate of 6 percent per annum. The loan is repayable when AV Group NB Inc. fully repays loans to the Provincial
Government of New Brunswick, Canada, which are due in 2018. However, AV Group NB Inc. made full repayment
of such loan during the year 2018.

Directors and management’s benefits

During the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Company had employee benefit expenses payable to their
directors and management as below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial statements in which the equity method is applied/
Separate financial statements

2018 2017
Short-term employee benefits 33,073 40,536
Post-employment benefits 536 1,263

Total 33,609 41,799




GAA uSEn Tneissau 911A (UKBU) - s1ednuUs:=91U 2561

7. NuanIa:s1gnIsInguIniuan

(M08 WL

wwmsRulugnsiuamuaiiasdiulaide)
UMIRULRANIENAMS
2561 2560
Ruan 217 412
Ruenauimig 334,616 119,893
Fauani 500,000 99,966
MuRudaLazIEN g LmMIRuan 834,833 220,271

U TUN 31 Funan 2561 Jusneanning Ruendsanuazfuan[utensiananidessndng Sasaz 0.10 014 1.40
siatl (2560: Faeay 0.50 D9 1.55 fal)

8. anulmsAla:gnkidu

(Mg L)

WMsRUNUARIRUAMUENIE U lALRE/
AUMSRULRNIZIAMS
2561 2560
X . 4 dd o o
anuliNI9AN - Aansinadesiu
X Y o o ot o o
21 UHAIANTLAINTUNDaAMUAg 9y
falifanuuntnsy 265,460 255,684
v o
ANaTN9Y
Tdiiu 1 hew - 16,594
X . - dd a2 .
29UgNULNITAN - AanasiNendeariy 265,460 272,278
X . - S oid e e
gnuiiniadn - Aanisnlaiinaadeaiu
X Y o o ok o °
21 UHAIANILAINTUN DN MUAT 5y
falufafnuundnsy 976,648 802,737
v o
ANaTNT
Tdifiu 1 heu 87,088 20,474
1-3150Y 230 4,638
291gNNUN9AN - Aannanllinendasiu 1,063,966 827,849

P9NgNULNITAN 1,329,426 1,100,127




THAI RAYON PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2018 1 4;)

7. Cash and cash equivalents

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial statements in which the equity method is applied/
Separate financial statements

2018 2017
Cash 217 412
Bank deposits 334,616 119,893
Bills of exchange 500,000 99,966
Total cash and cash equivalents 834,833 220,271

As at 31 March 2018, bank deposits in saving accounts, fixed deposits and bills of exchange carried interests

between 0.10 and 1.40 percent per annum (2017: between 0.50 and 1.55 percent per annum).

8. Trade and other receivables

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial statements in which the equity method is applied/
Separate financial statements

2018 2017

Trade receivables - related parties

Aged on the basis of due dates

Not yet due 265,460 255,684
Past due

Up to 1 month - 16,594
Total trade receivables - related parties 265,460 272,278
Trade receivables - unrelated parties

Aged on the basis of due dates

Not yet due 976,648 802,737
Past due

Up to 1 month 87,088 20,474
1 -3 months 230 4,638
Total trade receivables - unrelated parties 1,063,966 827,849

Total trade receivables 1,329,426 1,100,127
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10.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial statements in which the equity method is applied/

Separate financial statements

2018 2017

Other receivables

Amount due from related parties 300 928
Amount due from unrelated party 12 -
Interest receivable - related party 433 1,112
Interest receivable - unrelated parties 7,720 9,225
Total other receivables 8,465 11,265
Total trade and other receivables 1,337,891 1,111,392

As at 31 March 2017, the Company had the balance of trade receivables amounting to Baht 443 Million

which was sold at a discount to the financial institutions, with recourse. As at 31 March 2018, there is no

trade receivables sold at a discount to the financial institutions.

Inventories

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial statements in which the equity method is applied/
Separate financial statements

2018 2017
Finished goods 279,148 334,957
Raw materials 607,122 950,571
Spare parts and factory supplies 161,619 172,976
Materials in transit 392,709 464,889
Total inventories - cost 1,440,598 1,923,393

Assets held for sale

During the year, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a plan to divest all its investments in Birla Lao

Pulp & Plantations Co., Ltd., an associate company incorporated in the Lao People’s Democratic Republic,

to Sunpaper Holding Lao Co., Ltd. which is an unrelated company incorporated in the Lao People’s Democratic

Republic at price of USD 4.068 million as per the terms of share purchase agreement (SPA) dated 28 April

2018. The Company’s management expected the divestment plan to be completed within August 2018.

As at 31 March 2018, the Company has therefore classified the investment in the associate company, Birla

Lao Pulp & Plantations Co., Ltd., as assets held for sale.
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As at 31 March 2018, the investment in ordinary shares of Birla Lao Pulp & Plantations Co., Ltd. was Baht
481 Million (equivalent to 30% of issued and fully paid share capital of this associate company which had
paid up capital of USD 49 million), and advance payment was Baht 12 Million. Considering the divestment,
the Company has recorded additional impairment loss of investment in such associate amounting to Baht

43 Million in the separate income statement for the year ended 31 March 2018.

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of investments and advance payment to Birla Lao Pulp &

Plantations Co., Ltd. was as follow:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial statements Separate
in which the equity financial
method is applied statements
Carry amount of investments 390,380 481,102
Less: Allowance for impairment of investments (292,722) (364,333)
Net 97,658 116,769
Advance payment 12,143 12,143
Total 109,801 128,912

During the years 2018, movements of investments in Birla Lao Pulp & Plantations Co., Ltd. which classified

to assets held for sale was as follow:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial statements Separate
in which the equity financial
method is applied statements

Investments at beginning of year - -
Reclassify from investment in associate (Note 12) 142,477 159,867
Share of loss (3,536) -
Impairment on investment - (43,098)
Currency translation differences (41,283) -
Investments at end of year 97,658 116,769
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11. Investment in joint venture

11.1 Details of investment in joint venture

Investment in joint venture represents investment in entity which is jointly controlled by the Company and
other company. Details of this investment are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial statements in which the equity method is applied

Carrying amounts
Nature Shareholding based on equity
Joint venture of business percentage Cost method
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
(%) (%)
AV Terrace Bay Inc. Manufacture of pulp 60 60 1,288,624 1,288,624 - -
Total 1,288,624 1,288,624 - -

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

Shareholding Carrying amounts
Joint venture Nature of business percentage based on cost method
2018 2017 2018 2017
(%) (%)
AV Terrace Bay Inc. Manufacture of pulp 60 60 1,288,624 1,288,624

Total 1,288,624 1,288,624

11.2 Share of comprehensive income and dividend received

The Company recognised share of loss from investment in joint venture until the value of the investment
approached zero. Subsequent losses incurred by the joint venture have not been recognised in the Company’s
accounts since the Company has no obligations, whether legal or constructive, to make any payments on
behalf of the joint venture. The amount of such unrecognised share of loss is set out below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Unrecognised share of profit (loss)

Share of gain (loss) Cumulative share
Joint venture during the years of loss up to 31 March
2018 2017 2018 2017
AV Terrace Bay Inc. 41,783 (86,072) (207,352) (249,135)
Total 41,783 (86,072) (207,352) (249,135)

During the year 2018 and 2017, no dividend received from the joint venture.
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